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1 INSCRIBE THIS VOLUME TO THE MEMORY OF

THE LATE

Sir  HENRY MARION DURAND,
E.CSL

A MAN WHO COMBINED A RARE GREATNESS OF SOUL
AND A PERFECT GENIUS FOR AFFAIRS
‘WITH SIMPLICITY OF MANNERS, DIRECTNESS OF PURPOSE,
AND A DETESTATION OF ALL THAT IS MEAN AND FALSE.
AS WISE IN COUNSEL
AS HE WAS PROMPT AND DECIDED IN ACTION,
HE MET ALL THE STORMS OF LIFE WITH FORTITUDE,
RENDERING EVER, ALIKE BY HIS ACTION AND HIS EXAMPLE,
UNSURPASSED SERVICES TO HIS COUNTRY.

AFTER A SERVICE FULL OF HONOUR, EXTENDING OVER
FORTY-TWO YEARS,
HE DIED IN THE PERFORMANCE OF HIS DUTY.
“HE LEFT A REPUTATION WITHOUT SPOT—THE BEST
INHERITANCE HE COULD BEQUEATH TO HIS CHILDREN.”



PREFACE TO THE FIFTH VOLUME.
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TaE present volume concludes the history of the purely military
events of the great Indian uprising of 1857. o

The question whether that uprising was simply a military
mutiny, or a revolt of which that military mutiny constituted
the prominent feature, was debated keenly at the time, and is
to this day as warmly contested. In the concluding chapter of
this volume I have endeavoured to throw some light on the
dispute, by the simple process of tracing effect to its cause.
There is not a line in that chapter which will not bear the most
searching analysis. The conclusion I have arrived at is that
the uprising of 1857 was not primarily caused by the greased
cartridges; that it was neither conceived nor designed by the
Sipahis. The mutiny was in reality the offspring of the dis-
content roused by the high-handed measures inaugurated, or at
least largely developed, by Lord Dalhousie, and brought to a
climax by the annexation of Qudh. The greased cartridge was
the opportune instrument skilfully nsed by a band of con-
spirators, for the most part men of Oudh, for the purpose of
rousing to action the Sipihis, already made disaffected by con:
secutive breaches of contract and of faith, :

Of these acts—of the attempt, asI have termed it, to disregard
the silent growth of ages and to force Western ideas upon an
Eastern people, and in the course of that attempt to {rample
upon’ prejudices and to disregard obligations—the mutiny was
the too certain consequence. It is remarkable that the decisive
§)oints of this great uprising were at two places, famous in

ndian history, in both of which we had, by force or by the
moral power engendered by the possession of force, displaced
the former rulers. These places were Dehli and Lakhnao, At
the one we were the besiegers, in the other we were besieged.
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Dehli and Lakhnao constituted, so to speak, the wings of the
rebel army. Had the centre, represented by Gwilidr, gone
with the wings, it had fared badly with us. But, for the reasons
I have specially referred to in the concluding chapter, the
centre remained sound long enough to enable us to concentrate
icil:le bulk of our forces on the two decisive points of the rebel

e.

It was after Dehli had fallen and a severe blow had been
dealt at-Lakhnao that we had to deal with the centre—a
centre formidable indeed, but which the loyalty of Sindhi4 had
deprived of much of its power and prestige. It is with the
contest with that centre, carried on by Colonel Durand, Sir
Hugh Rose, Sir Robert Napier, Generals Stuart, Roberts, Michel,
and Whitlock, Brigadiers Smith;, Honner, Parke, Somerset,
Colonel Holmes,. Becher, and ‘many others, that the 'military
portion.of this volnme mainly deals; and I venture to:affirm
that no part of this history is more remarkable for the display
.of -capacityrand -daring’ by the generals;- of:eourage and’ en-
durance -by the 'men.: It is' a'page of history which every
Englishman will -read with- pride and satisfaction—with pride
‘because the deeds it records were heroic; with satisfaction
because many of the actors survive, ready, when they are called
upon, to repeat their triumphs in other fields.

. -But, important and full of interest as are the military records
of this volume, the political action it relates is certainly not less
80, There was not a moment of more consequence to India than
that in which Lord Elphinstone had to .decide whether he
would content himself with saving his own - Presidency, or,
risking everything, would send every available man to the
decisive points in the endeavour to save India. Not for a second
did that illustrious man hesitate. It has been to me a task
of no ordinary pleasure to demonstrate how the daring and
generous conduct of the Governor of Bombay vitally affected
the interests .of England at the:most critical period of the
struggle.

Nor have I experienced less gratification in rendering justice
to the. character of Lord Canning, as that character developed
itself, when, in the early part of 1858, he stood unshackled at
Allahébad. I have entered in the concluding -chapter so fully
into this point, and into others affecting the judgment passed
upon his action in the earlier part of his Indian career, that it

.is unnecessary to allude to the matter further here.
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Since the first edition of this volume was published I have
received numerous letters from gentlemen who were actors in
the several campaigns, and have conversed with many of them.
I have enjoyed the opportunity likewise of revisiting India.
The result has been that I have been able to render some share
of justice to distinguished officers whose deeds were not so fully
described as they deserved to be. I may add that I have likewise
obtained the fullest information regarding the transactions
between the Government of India and the State of Kirwi prior
to 1857, and have re-written that portion of the narrative, -

Although I have exerted myself to the utmost -to ensure
accuracy of detail in all the military operations, I am conscious
that there are many other gallant:deeds- the details of which
have not reached me, and which are therefore unnoticed. I
have found it impossible, even in a work so bulky as this, to
mention every individual who deserved well of his country.
When a small body of men attack and defeat a large number of
enemies, every man of the attacking party is necessarily a hero.
There may be degrees of heroism, but it is difficult to distinguish
them. Napoleon, feeling this difficulty, announced to his army
after one of his great campaigns that it would be sufficient for a
soldier to declare that he had belonged to the army which had
fought in that campaign, for the world to recognisé him as'a
brave man, That assurance is certainly not less applicable te
the soldiers whose gallant deeds are recorded in this volume,
and on whom the campaigns of Mélwi, of Central India, of the
southern Marithéa country, and again of Milwé and Rajpating,
have fixed the stamp of heroes.

The appendix gives the story of Tantid Top{'s career as related
by Téntia Topf himself.

I cannot conclude without expressing the deep obligations
under which I lie to the many gentlemen who have placed their
journals and letters, all written at the time, at my disposal.
The value of the information I have thus been able to obtain is
not to be expressed in words. But especially do I desire to
acknowledge the benefit I have received from the services of
the gifted friend who read the first edition of this volume in
proof-sheets, and whose frank and judicious criticisms greatly
contributed fo the clearness and accuracy of the military nar-
rative,

. I may add that there is in the press a sixth volume, which,
in addition to an analytical index prepared by my friend,
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Mpr. Pincott, will contain a reference, taken in the order of the
Governorships, Lieutenant-Governorships, and Chief-Commis-
_sionerships to which they severally belonged, to many of the civil
districts throughout India. To this volume has been trans-
ferred the narrative of the five civil districts, and the chapter
regarding the Indian Navy, which originally appeared in this
volume. Although I have taken the greatest pains to ascertain
the truth regarding the events in several of these stations, I am
conscious that much has been left still to be recorded. In but
few cases were journals kept; many of the actors are dead;
many are old and indifferent. I trust, however, that it will be
found that I have succeeded in unearthing many deeds of
daring, in rescuing from oblivion more than one reputation, and
generally in adding to the interest of the story of the most
stupendous event that has occurred in the reign of Queen
Victoria.
o . G. B. MarLuEsox.
27, West Cromwell Road, -
18t July, 1889,



LIST AND SHORT DESCRIPTION OF IMPORTANT
PLACES MENTIONED IN THIS VOLUME, AND NOT
DESCRIBED IN PREVIOUS VOLUMES.

—— O r—

Ansefrs, a Native State in Mdlw4, within an area of 584 square miles,

AsfroaRn is 8 fortress in the Nimdr district of the Central Provinces, situate
on a spur of the Bétpira range. It stands at an elevation of 850 feet,
and is & tﬁlme of great strength. It was once taken by Akbar, and
twice by the English, to whom it now belongs. It lies 313 miles from
Bombay. '

AvBANGABAD, 8 city in the Haidardbdd State, which derives its name from
the Emperor Aurangzib, who built here a beautiful mausoleum over the
remains of his favourite daughter. It lies 215 miles from Bombay, and
690 from Madras. )

B41£sET, 8 town in the Gwélidr State, 40 miles to the north-west of Sigar.

Banpan, chief town of district of same name, now in the Allahibdd division,
95 miles south-west of Allahdbdd, and 190 south-east from Agra.

BANPGR, a parganah in the Lélitpir Qistrict, Central Provinces, forming the
seat of 8 cﬁ?ef who rebelled in 1857,

BxLcioN, the chief town of the district of the same name in the Southern
+ Mardthd country, situate on the northern slopes of the Belldr{ watershed,
2500 feet above the sea. It is 318 miles from Bombay. '

BuaorAwig, a ruinous town in the Gwsliér State; 64 miles south-west of
Ujjén, and 830 south-west of Gwdlidr.

BueuiNPér, an ancient and famous city in the Nim4r district of the Central
Provinces, was for a long period the capital of Khéndesh, and the chic
city of the Dakhan under the Mughul emperors. It lies on the north
bank of the Taptf. It was founded by Nasir Khén, of Kbdindesh, and
waas called after the renowned Shekh Burhanu'din, of Daulatdbsd. It is
famous for its quaint porcelain. It is two miles from the Lilbigh
station of the Great India Peninsula Railway,

CrixpErf, a tow and fortress in the Gwélidr State, described at page 104,

CuarknAri, capital of State of same name in Central Tndia; on the route from’
Gwilitr to Bandah, 41 miles south-west of the latter. ‘ h
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Dgw4s, a State in the Central Indian Agency, with two chiefs, one called
Bab4 Sahib, the other Did4 Sshib. The territories of the former have
an area of 1378 square miles; those of the latter, 6197 square miles;
yet the Bibd Sahib is the senior of the two.

Du4g, a State in the Central Indian Agency, with an area of 2500 square
miles. Its capital is also called Dhér.

DHARWAR, capital of district of the same name in the Southern Marsths
country, lies 351 miles from Bombay. Is a great cotton centre.

Gonagif, s village in the Gwslidr State, between Nimach and Mandesat.

Hamar£zap, described in the text, page 80. . :

JABALPUR, capital of district and division of the same name in the North-
West Provinces. The town is an important centre of trade. It lies
700 miles from Calcutta; 202 from Allahibdd; 879 from Madras, and
674 from Bombay.

JaLAvuN, a town in the district of the same name in Jhénsi territory. The
district has an area of 1469 square miles,- and - comprises the towns,
‘Kalpi, Kiineh, Jaléun, and Uréi (the capital). * The chief rivers in the
district are the Jamnali, the Betw, and the Pehdj. = - -

JAMERAND], eapital of State of ‘seme name in Southern Marfthé eountry,
70 miles north-east of Belgdon; 68 east of Kolhdpiir, and 162 south-east
of Pund. ‘The chief maintains a force of 57 horse and 852 foot.”

Kirwi, a town, formerly capital of a principality in Bundelkhand, 45 miles
from Bandah. .

KoLAPUR, capital of a native State of the same name between the Retnagiri
and Belgdon districts, distant 128 miles south-east from Pund; 64 from
Satdrah, and 220 from Bombay. . )

Kurinef, capital of the district of the same name in the Southern Maréths
country, to the north-east of Belgdon. It lies 314 miles from Bombay.

KuNcs, & town in the Jaldun district, 19 miles west of Urdi, and 42 miles
south-west of Kalpi. : .

KuruNDwAp is the capital of two States of the same name in the Southern
Marith4 country, ruled by two branches of the Patwardhan family.

LALITPGR, capital of a district in the Jhéns{ division, as it now is, of the
North-West Provinees. The district borders on that of Sigar.

MALTHON, a town in the Ségar district, 40 miles north of S4gar.

MAuw4, the name applied to the western portion of the Central Indisn
Agency. It is a tableland of uneven surface, rising from 1500 to 2000
feet above the level of the sea, bounded on the west by the Aravili
range; on the south by the Vindhy4 chain; on the east by Bundelkhand,
and on the north-east by the valley of the Ganges, It comprises the
States of Gw4lidr, Indir, and Dhdr,

MALw{ (WESTERN) is the westernmost tract of Mslws, and constitutes a
subordinate agency of the Central Indian Agency. It comprises the
States Jiurd, Ratlam, S6l4n4, and Sitdmiu.

MANDESAR, & town in Sindhis’s dominions, on a tributary of the Chambal,
80 miles from Ujjen, 120 from Indur, and 328 from Bombay.
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MzriopuR, & town in the Inddr State, on the right bank of the Sipré, north
of Ujjén, 432 miles from Bombay. Since 1817, ‘when Sir J. Hislop
defeated Mulhar Bdo Holkar on the banks of the Siprd, it has been a
cantonment for British troops,

Mirks, capital of State of same name in Southern Mar4thé country, The
chief is a first-class Sirdér, with a military force of 597 men.

Mupnat, capital of State of same name in Southern Mardtha country, south
of the Jémkhéndi State, The chief maintains a military force of
700 men. .

N<4aop, town in the Uchahéra distriet, Ceniral Indian Ageucy; on the direct
route by Rewah from Sigar to Allahdb4id; is 48 miles from the first;
43 from the second, 180 from the third, and 110 from Jabalpir.

NaRrGUND, town in the Dhirwir district, 32 miles north-east of Dhérwair.
The chief loet his possessions in consequence of his conduct in 1857,
related in this volume. | . o

NaBsrNEPUR, 8 district in the Narbadé division of the Central Provinces, with
an area of 1916 square miles. Its capital, also called Narsivhpir, is on
the River Singri, & tributary of the Narbad4. It lies 60 miles to the

- "west of Bigar. . : - BT R

Pécr, a village in the Jhénef district, on the road from Xalpf to Giinah,
55 miles south-west of the formet, and 150 north-east of the latter.

Puni, the ancient Mardthd capital, is situste near the confluence of the
Mutd and Mul4, in a plain 2000 feet above the sea. It is 90 miles from
Bombay. Adjoining it is the artillery cantonment, Kirki, where
Colonel Burr, in 1817, defeated the Peshwd’s army.

RinATeaRH, 8 fortified town in a tract of the same name in the Ssgar
district, 25 miles to the west of the town of S4gar.

1RATPUB, capital of the district of the same name in the Central Provinces,
&zmiles to the east of Ndgpir, by the road from that place to
utta.

Rxwan, native State in Bundelkhand, having a capital of the same name.
It is bounded to the north by the Bandah, Allabsbéd, and Mirzépur
districts; fo the east by part of the Mirzdpir district and the territories
of Chutii Ndgpiir; on the south by the Chhatisgarh, Jabalpir, and
Mandld districts; on the west by Maihir, Ndgid, and the Kothi States.
It has an area of 13,000 square miles. The position of the town is
described in the text. )

S40aR, capital of the district of the same name, situated on an elovated

ition, 1940 feet above the sea, on the north-west borders of a fine
ake nearly a mile broad, whence it derives its name (Sigar, Anglicé, the
Sea). It lies 90 miles north-west of Jabalpdr; 185 miles north of
Négpiir; 813 miles south-west of Allahdbdd; 224 miles north-east of
Indur, and 602 from Bombay.

SinoLf, capital of the Btate of the same name in Sonthern Mdrdtha country,
the chief of which is a Sirdér of the first class, with a military force of
8K22h]1;xelxi:; It is situate on the River Krishna, to the north-east of

ohlépur.
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SATARAH, capital of the district of the same name, lies 56 miles south of

Puni, at the junction of the Krishna and the Yena. It is 163 miles from
Bombay.,

SAvAnum, capital of State of same name-in the Dhdirwir district; lies
39 miles south by east of Dharwar. The Naw4b is of Afghdn descent.

SafHGARH, town in Sdgar district, Central Provinces, 40 miles north-east of
the town of Sdgar.

StHOE, 8 town in the Bhop4l State, Central India; situate on the right bank
of the Saven, on the road from Sdgar to Asirgarh, 132 miles south-west
from the former, and 152 north-east from the latter; 22 miles from
Bhopél, and 470 from Bombay.

TAr-BamAT, chief town of parganah of same name in L4litpur district,
Ceniral Provinces, stands on a hill, 26 miles north of the town of
Lalitpir.

TenRi, capital of the Tehr{ or Urchah estate, to the east of Lalitpir. It is
772 miles north-west of Sdgar. The Rdjah is looked upon as the head of
the Bundélés,

UJIEN, 8 very important town—more so formerly than now—on the Siprd, in
the Gwilidr State. The modern town is six miles in circumference, and
surrounded by groves and gardens. The old town lies about a mile to
:rhe mirtg of the new town. It iz 1698 feet above the sea.” It is 40 miles

om Indur.

ﬁncuin, ancient capital of State of the eame name, also called Tehri, in
Bundelkhand, The State is bounded on the west by the Jhdnsi and
Lélitpdr districts; on the south by the Lalitpur district and Bijéwar;
Zantthe east by Bijiwar, Charkb4ri, and Garduli. The town is on the
etwd.
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APPENDIX A.
(Pages 138-42.)

Ix addition to the fact stated at page 138 that Mddhava Réo, Réo of
Kirwi, was only nine years old when the mutiny broke out, and that the
money paid for the maintenance of the Bandras Temples had been alienated
before he sat on the gadi,and therefore never formed part of his estate and
could not be liable to seizure, whatever he might do, it may be added that
at the time of the Mutiny the Government of India appointed a Special
Commissioner, Mr. F. O. Mayne, to inquire into the conduct of Midhava
Réo, and that that Commissioner fully absolved him from all blame
(vide his report, dated September 8, 1858).

Not only so, but the same gentleman gave a special certificate to the
Regent of Kirwi (who was also trustee of the Baniras Temples), dated
February 4, 1859. A copy of that document, now before me, states:
“ R4m Chandrd Rém, Paindsay, has always borne a high character for
loyalty and respectability during the Mutiny of 1857. Being a relation
of the Kirwi Peshw4, he was placed in a difficult position, and discharged
his duty both towards the British Government and towards his master
most faithfully, at the risk of his life, and with frank and open loyalty to
Government. It was he who saved the life of Mr. Cockerell, joint
magistrate of Kirwi. Though he has at present frankly refused any
reward for his loyal and faithful services, yet he must be well paid
whenever he stands in need.” This wassigned by Mr, F. O. Mayne. Yet
the reward R4m Chandrd Rim received was the pillage of the Bandras
Temples of which he was trustee.

There is thus complete evidence that a Special Commissioner exonerated
M4dhava Réo from all blame, and gave a certificate of loyalty to his
adviser: we have the non-age of the Réo, and the fact that the Temple
money had been seized by the Government two years before the Mutiny ;
and yet we are asked to believe that all these seizures took place in con~
sequence of the Réo’s rebellion,

With reference to the statement made in the first edition that General
Whitlock fourd in the palace-yard of Kirwi more than forty pieces of
cannon, an immense quantity of shot, shell, and powder, &c., a friend, who
has investigated the subject of the Kirwi tragedy, writes me as follows:
“ As to the statement made by Whitlock and repeated by you about the
active gun factories and powder mills and stands of arms, the whole is a
shameless lie put forward to warrant the grant of prize money. That
¢lucky’ column had a keen scent for booty. Listen to a few words of
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truth. On the death of Vemivak Rin, the 61k July, 1833, Mr. Eilis, the
Eesident, went to Kirei, distanded all the forves there, and carried sway
all the weapons of war. A prudent, thongh despotic, use was made of the
clunpe «f rdj to disarm this jetty mative Siste.  The azent to the
Government of Indis kad full rdrmetion «f all that was going on st
Kirsi up to the ontbresk of the Mutiny. Is it oonsistent with commeon
sense toy suppose that a yetty State ike Kirwi oould estailish gm
foumdries and powder manufactaries during the short period of the Mutiny ?
Xo money, howerer vast, and po hatred, bowever titter, couid yrmsibly
create snch things, without the time necessary for thelr estubli-hment.
Your military knowlsdre will make the wonstrous impmdence of
Wiitlock's sssertion more apyarent to you thas it can be 1o me, Be
jrotably seraped together 8 few old redics and cuniosities, with a few
routineers’ guns and bedts—bundreds of which st have buen availatle st
#nck & tims—snd on the Jike trumypery the Lie rust keve been buiit oy

I give this statement for what it is worth, Tomehm!hntza!
s, at least, great exazseration in Whithork's uarrative; and that there
were no srounds whatever fir treating the Bio «f Kirwi as an eoemy to
te plandened.

APTEXDIX B
(Paze 263.)

Translation of Tintid Topi's Voluntary Deposition or Statement tuken in
Camp Mishairi on the 10h of April, 1534, in presence of Major
)I:iamnnzﬁhgﬁdi?m

My name s Tintii Tori: my futher's pame is Pindurang, irdabitant of

Jodi-Parpatah, Patods-Zillab, Nassr. [ am a msident of Bahir I am

alwut furty-five years of age, in the service of Nind Sibib in the grade of

GRTIFRIGON OF 2i56-0e-CAID .

In the month of May 1557 the oulector of Kirbpdir sent 8 sote of the
fDowing yurport to the Nind Sibib at Bithir, vir. thet be bezged Lim
(tbe Nisd) o forward Lis wife and chiliren to England. The Niud
ounserted 16 do 85, and foar davs afierwards the collactar wrote to him to
bring Lis troops sud guns with Lim from Bitbdr (1o Kénkipir) [ went
with the Niné s34 sbout one bundred Sipihis ard three hundred watch-
Lackmen a1d two Fuus to the culacicr’s bouse 8t Kinhpir, The eclisttor
was then in the mtrenchment, and mot in Lis bouse, serst us werd to
remuin, snd we stopped st Lis house daring the wight. The collector
came in the moming sxd tdld the Nind 10 coonpy Lis own bouse, which
was in Kinhpir We sooordingly did s0; we remsimed there foarr davs,
and the gentieman said it wes furtunste we had come to bis xid, as the
Sipidas bad beoorne discbedient, snd that be would aprly to the prnensd
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. genera’ wrote to Agra, whence a reply
in our lﬁalf}mﬂ:g;gnig, i%(}llflh%ebmadc for the pay of our men. Two
came ‘; ar dsnéghe three regiments of inintry and the 2nd light cavalry
days a tgr(\;a s and imprisoned the Nand ad myself in the Treasuryz and
suu‘roun__f1 :,Ih magazine and Treasury of everything they contained,
plundere o eg in either, Of the treaste the Sipdhis made over two
leaving 1310 lln;,n thousand rupees to the Mn4, keepmg.theu' OWn sentries
lakhs an 'J_?hevNéné, was also under charge!f these sentries, and the Sipahis
over it. ?th us also joined the rebel After this the'whole army
who w(g(} V:n that place, and the rebels 0k the Nén4 Sghib and mysgl”f
march‘f roattendants along with them, al said, « pgme along to Dehli,
and all our three coss from Kénhpir, tt Nén& Sahib saiq that, as the
Having gfqne spent, it was better to halthere then, and to march_ on the
day was Bg‘abp e y agreed to this a: halted. In the morning the

following );o 14 him (ﬁle Nén4) to goith them towaids ]’)ehh., The
wholg arfm)’ d, and the army then said,Come with us to Kénhpr, and
Niénd }l‘e use Mo Nénd objected to this ;ut they would not attend to him,
fight ¢ erci;' ¢ him with them as a priser, they went towards Kénhpir,
and SO,h f{% mzommenc ed there. The fiting continued for twenty-four
and fig dmg the twenty-fourth day thieneral raised the flag of peace,
days, anﬁ ontin ceased. The Nénk go femalg who had been captured
and the gh'tega note to Greneral Whee to this effect, that the Sipshis
before to :mbe his orders, and_that, he wished, he (the N4n4) would
would no ‘Od Zonvey him and those w him in the intrenchmen} as far
get bolalﬁ)@g An answer came from general that he approved of this
as Alla gt P same evening tkeneral sent the Ngn4 something
arrangemfi i rupees, and authol him to keep the amount, The
over qni d: T went and got ready fo boats, and, having caused all the
following ﬁ; dies, and children to geito the boats, [ started them off
gentlelmﬁyﬁ sd.  In the meanwhile twhole army, artillery included,
to Alla ata ©dv. arrived at the rivernges. The Sipshis Jumped into
| having go rg gfmnenced a massacre 1l the men, women, and children,
/e Watelilanbo:ts on fire. - They destd thirty-nine boats, One, how-
dset t ee d as far as Kols Kankdb was there caught and brought

}‘I', eS?gI} hotr. and all on board o destroyed.‘ Four days after this

< to Kdn g e was going to Br to keep the anniversary of his
/Jé;néé Saélh ) t?ley (the Si?)éhis) ved him to go, and some of them
T8 aeal ied him. Having ke® anniversary, they brought him

«rigfgl Gr, and they took foeir pay the money they had first

" ph N énd’s charge, arde arrangements ‘to fight against

the “here they heartme Europeans -had arrived from

y told *he. N4-<tcompany them there.” The Nén4

N at Kdnhpur, and sent J awdla Parshad,
e ‘h them to Fatbpir, "Haying arrived
o reated to Kénhpir, and the aforesaid

vhole way to Kénhptr, when there was
be rebel army was again defeated, and
R X
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ran away from Kéohpir. Und, er these circumstances tma N4ng and I fled
to Bithir, arriving there at m'* idnight, and the rebel army followed us.
The next morning the Nan4, ta‘e'kiug some cash, &c., with him, went to
Fathplr. The rebel army follo™wed, and looted the place. The N 4nd,
Bald S4hib, Réo Sahib, and mysPetlf, with all our wives, crossed the Ganges
in boats, and arrived at Fathpﬁr"igin the Lakhnao territory, and put up with
the Chaodri Bhopal Singh. So ‘ine days passed, when the 42nd Native
Infantry arrived at Sheorijpir, : ind wrote to the N4nd to send them some
one to take them to him. I wen®3t-and told them that the N4n4 had sent
for them. In the meanwhile t he English army arrived, and the said
42nd regiment Native Infantry ‘1‘"}Nent to Bithtr, and fought there. I ac-
companied the said regiment, ar id, bhaving been defeated, we fled from
Bithiir and crossed the Ganges, attd came to the N4ni. Some days after,
I received orders from the Ndnd t1% go to Gwi4lidr, and to bring back with
me to fight the English such of tHfye contingent as were at Morar. Accord-
ing to his order, I went to Mordr§, and brought back the contingent with
me to Kalpi. The Nénd had sentt} his brother, the B4l4 Sahib, to Kalpi,
and, according to his order, I went ywith the army to fight against Kénhpir,
leaving a small force and magazinef! at Kalpi. Having arrived at Kénhptr,
there was a battle which lasted eley7en days. After eleven days the rebel
army was defeated, and we all ram away. The next day after this we
fought at Sheordjptr, and there als o, having been defeated, we ran away,
. having with us fifteen guns (includ’ ing one horse-artillery gun). Iand the
Bl Séhib and the R4o Sdhib, who 'had been sent by the Néna to Kénhptir,
all crossed the Ganges at Nénd M4 u-ki-Ghit. We remained a
called Khers for the-night. I got dorders from the Rdo Séhib to go and
take charge of the small force and n pagazine left at Kalpi, in obedience to
which T went there. After my ar¥ival at Kalpi, I received orders from
the N4nd to go and attack Chirkhéri, and that the Rdo Sahib should be
sent after me. Accordingly I, witk: nine hundred Sipéhis, two hundred -~
- cavalry, and four guns, went to Chirkghdri, and fighting commenced. Fou
days afterwards the Rdo Séhib came; to Kalpi. = I foucht at Chirkhéri f
eleven days, and took it. I took ywenty-four guns and three lakhsr
rapees from the Rdjah. The Réjahs of Bénptr and Shéhgarh, and Dev
Despat and Daolat Singh, the Kuqhw? 4y4 Kharwil4, and a great gathene
of people joined me there at this timey I received a note from the %im
of Jhansi to the effect that she was waging war with the Europeangsns
begging me to come to her aid. I repprted the news to the Réghim to
Kalpi. The Réo came to Jaipir, and gave me permission 1 T went
assistance of the Queen of Jhé.nsi.. Accordingly I went tqted match-
halted at Barua Sigar. There Ré,_]gh,Mé,n Singh ¢ "The collector
. The next day, about a mile froin J‘L\ﬁrﬁ& tk@u\ghole’[e gent us word to
fight with the English army, At ﬂ}ls'[urinc the B t%t. The collector
men and twenty-eight guns. In this ¥ ogcupy 1€ Sown house, which
the rebel army, with four or five guns, ", o remaited there four days,
same place, 'u’id ’Bhé.pderi and. Kunch,\% "we had come to his aid, as the
Queen of Jhansi arrived there the sa! he would apply to the general

t a place

'

i
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in our behalf. He did so, and the generalshe might go and fight. The
came that arrangements would be made| a parade of all the troops, and
days afterwards the three regiments of infy; Accordingly I, with a force,
surrounded us and imprisoned the N4nd 2 battle at Kinch which lasted
plundered the magazine and Treasurgd fled, and I fled to *Chirki,”
leaving nothing in either. Of the treadid where my parents were. ‘The
lakhs and eleven thousand rupees to the } with her arrived at Kalpi. The
over it. The Ndn4 was also under chargé and was defeated, and he and
who were with us also joined the rebelwe all. marched thence towards
marched from that place, and the rebels Mah4r4jah Sindhi4, and defeated
and all our attendants along with them, a army joined the Bdo S4hib, and
Having gone three coss from Kénhptr, tty, through Amarchand Bati (the
day was far spent, it was better to halinds, pay was distributed to the
following day. They agreed to this an us. Some days afterwards the
whole army told him (the Nén4) to golalpi, and a ‘force -also came from
Niné refused, and the army then said,1 continued for four or five days,
fight there,” The.Nén4 objected to this;lled. R4m Rdo.Govind had her
and so, taking him with them as a pris' and fled, taking twenty-five guns
and fighting commenced there. The fid remained there during the night.
days, and on the twenty-fourth day thnd fought for an hour and a half.
and the fighting ceased. The N4n4 go fired four shots, and we then ran
before to write a note to General Whethe Chambal, and reached Tonk vid
would not obey his orders, and that, ight with us, and we took four guns
get boats and convey him and those weded to Bhilwaré vid MahdipGr and
as Allahdbéd. An answer came from | by the English force, and I fled
arrapgement, and the same evening thy army and guns. = At that time I
over one lakh of rupees, and authond four guns with me. We all pro-
following day I went and got ready fait four miles from Nsthduward) and
gentlemen, ladies, and children to genorning we moved towards Patan, and,
to Allahdbdd.. In the meanwhile t: English army arrived, and an action
having got ready, arrived at the river and fled, reaching Patan as fugitives.
the water and commenced a massacre 1e with us from Kalpi, and the Nawdb
and set the boats on fire. - They destdfirki, were both with us) On our
ever, escaped as far as Kold Kanksed between -us and the R4jah of that
back to Kanhpiir, and all on board ossession of all the Réjah’s guns and
the N4n4 said he was going to Bee, in which he was. The next day I
mother’s death ; they (the Sipshis) me money to pay the expenses of my
also accompanied him.. Having kefive lakhs of rupees, but not more. I
back to Kénhpiir, and they took fohis. The next day the Réo Sahib sent
made over to the Nénd’s charge, arnty-five lakhs from him. The Réjah
Husan Fathpur, where they heann five lakhs; but, after some discussion,
Allabébéd, and they told ghe, N4- fifteen lakhs. The R4jah said he would
refused. I and the N4 send this sum. He went accordingly, and sent two
his (the Nénd's) azem cash,and promised that the rest should follow. By
there and been defcvpaid up five lakhs, .

European force. pressi-major 5th Irregular Cavalry, ill-treated thé Rdjah
a battle for about tws latter fled during the night. - We remained 1:2here five

VOL. V. X
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days, and issued three months’ pay to our troops at the rate of thirty
rupees each sawér, and twelve rupees to each foot-soldier per mensem.

We then marched for Sironj, taking eighteen guns with us. On reach-
ing Réjgarh the English army came up and attacked us. We left our
guns and fled, and reached Sironj vié Nija Kila. We halted at Sironj
eight days, and, having taken four guns from the Tonk Nawib's agent at
Sironj, we proceeded thence to Is:ighar. On arrival there we demanded
supplies; but the Isigarh people would not give them. We therefore
attacked Iségarh, and plundered it. The following day we halted, and
the Rdo S4hib told me to go to Chandéri,and that he would come round
by T4l Bahat. I accordingly went to Chandéri, and the Rio Sdhib
came to Lalitpir from (or by) Til Bahat. On my reaching Chandéri,
four shots were first fired on us from the fort, which we attacked and
fought with Sindhid’s ageot. After three days we marched from
Chandéri towards Mangrauli, taking with us eleven guus, viz,, seven
which we had brought from Isigarh and the four we had got from Sironj.
On our march to Mangréuli, we met the English army. Shots were fired
for a short time, when we left all our guns and fled.  (Of the eleven guns.
five were with me and six with the Rio Sihib. I lost my five in this
fight, but the Réo kept his six).

(Nore.—It would appear that the Rdo was not in this action.)

1 reached Jakldun, and the next day went to Sultanpiir, where the Réo-
S4hib also arrived.  After three days the English force arrived, and the
Réo Séhib took his army to Jaklaun (about five miles from Lalatpidr), and
some firing took place there, I was not presert in this fight. The Réo
S4hib returned to L4litpir, and the following day proceeded to Kajirid
(ten miles from Sultanpir) and halted there. 'The next day the English
army came up just as we were going to march, and an action commenced
which lasted an hour and a half. 'We then left all our guns and fled, and
reached T4l Babat. We halted there, and the following day went to
Jaklaun, and thence to a village called Itdwabh, twelve miles distant, where
we stopped. 'We there heard that the English army was coming to sur-
prise us, and marched at night. The English force came up in the morn-
ing, and our army became separated. I accompanied the Ko Sihib, and
we proceeded, vid Réjgarh, and crossed the Narbad4, and got to Kagion
Batis vtd Kanduld.. The troops who were with us burned the Govern-
ment thénd * and bungalow at Kanduld, The Réo S4hib forbad their doing
50, but they would not obey him. This was about four months ago. At
Kauggon Bitis there were some of Holkar’s troops—one hundred and forty
sawars, one company of infantry, and two guns. These we forced to join
us, and took them with us when we marched the following day towards
Gujrét, crossing the high road where the telegraph-wire ran. The Sip4his
broke the wire and plundered seven hackeries which were on the road
proceeding with Governmment property towards Gwélidr, and seized the

* «Thénd,” a station—G., B. M,
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chaprésis and chaukidirs® who were with the hackeries, and took them
with them, Some of the chaukidirs belonging to the chauki were hanged
by them. We there left the high road and proceeded westward. The
next day we were surprised by the English force, and leaving our two
guns, we fled, and reached the Narbad4. An officer, with a hundred men,
was on the opposite bank. Qur force commenced to cross, and this officer
and party of sawérs ran off. We plundered a village there called Chikl4,
and marched thence at midnight. After proceeding thirty-four miles, we
balted at R4jpirs. The next day we tovk three thousand nine hundred
rupees and three horses from the R4jah of that place, and from it went on to
Choté Udaiptr. The following day the English force surprised us; some
of them were killed, and some of ours. From Chot4 Udaipir we went on
to Déogarh Béri, and our army became separated. There was jungle at
that place, and I balted there two days, Our troops having been collected
again, we started, and went to Banswérd. Our men plundered there
sixteen or scventeen camel-loads of cloth (some of Ahmad4bid) belonging
to a mah4jan t which they found there. We thence went to Salomar, and
I called on Kaisar Singh, agent for the Udaipir Rijah, to furnish us with
supplies. He sent us some, and the following day we again started with
the intention of going to Udaipir. However,en route we received tidings
of the English force, and retraced our steps to Bhilwiri. We remained
there two days, and then proceeded to Partibgarh, where we fought for
two hours with a body of English troops which had come from Nimach.
About 8 o’clock P.M. we ran off, and proceeded about six miles to the east
of Mandesar, and halted there. We then went on to Ziripir, making
three stages en route. An English force surprised us there, and we were.
2gain surprised by another force at Chapré Baréd. We fled thence to
Nahargarh, the agent of the Kot4 Rdjah, at which place nine shots were
fired at us from guns. 'We moved out of range, and halted there during
the night; and the Réo Sdhib sent Risdlddr Nanndi Khén to call R4jah,
Mén Singh. The Réijah came and accompanied us—i.e. the Rio Sshib,
myself, and our force—to a place about two miles frcm Parén, where we
balted. . We remained there two days, and on the third went on toa place
about eight miles beyond Kilw4ri, whose name I do not remember.
Rijah Médn Singh accompanied us as far as a river which we crossed
en roule, and then left us. We made two stages thence to Indragarh ; and
Firuzshéh, with the Khds Risil4 (bodyguard) and 12th Irregulars, met us
there. The next day we went on, making two stages to Dewis, which is
fourteen miles from Jaipr. The English force surprised us there; some
men on both sides were killed, and, flying thence towards Mérwir, we
reached a village about thirty koss from MArwér, whose name I do not
remember. At 4 o’clock that night we were surprised by the English
force, and the 12th jrregular cavalry separated from the Réo Séhib’s army,

* % Chaprigi,” a belted attendant or messenger. “Chaukidér,” a watch~
man. “Chauki,” a post, in this sense ; also a chair.
+ “Mabijan,” banker, merchant.—G. B. M.
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The next day Thikur Narfyan. Singh, Ajit Singh, uncle of Réjah Mén
Singh, and Thékur Gangd Singh joined us at that place (? to which the
Réo’s army had fled). They were coming in -this (the Parén) direction.
I had been quarrelling with the Réo Sihib all the way from Déogarh Bari,
and told him I could flee no longer, and that, whenever I saw an oppor-
tunity for doing so, I should leave him.. The opportunity for doing so here
offered, and I left him and accompanied the (three) above-named parties
in this (the Par6n) direction. When I left the R4o Séhib he had about
six thousand men with him. But three men (two Pandits to cook my
food and one s4is) and three horses and one tattd accompanied me. The
names of the two Pandits were R4m R4o and Narfyan. The séi’s name
was Gobind, but he left me and ran off after coming two stages. We
reached the Parén jungle and met R4jah Mén Singh. Ajit Singh took
leave of R4jah M4n Singh, and went to his home. Nardyan Singh and I
remained with Réjah M4n Singh. The Ré4jah said, “ Why did you leave
your force? You have not acted right in so doing.” I replied that I was
tired of running away, and -that I would remain with him whether I had
done right or wrong., I heard after this that the Réo Séhib’s army had
gone to Patan, and thence fowards Sironj. I told Réjah Mén Singh I
would send a man to get intelligence of them, and he approved of my doing
so. I sent accordingly, and got. information that the Rio Sihib was not
there; but Imém Ali, Wirdi-major, Firuzshib, and the Ambapini-wild
Nawsb, Adil Muhammad, were there with eight or nine thousand men.
Imém Alf, Wirdi-major of the 5th Irregular Cavalry, wrote to me to come
and join them. I had lost my master’s (the Nana's) seal, and bad another
made up at Parén.

‘When I heard, as above, from the Wirdi-major, I sent & man to Rijah
Mién Singh, who was at Mahidi4 in Major Meade’s camp (he had then been
there three days), to inform bim that I had received a note of this purport,
and to ask him if I should go or remain. R&jah Mén Singh had consulted
me before giving himself .up to Major Meade, and had left one of his men
with me, saying, “ Stop wherever this man takes you.” R4jah M4n Singh
replied to my message that he would come in'three days to see ine, and we
should then settle what to do.

He came accordingly on the third day, at night, and spoke a great deal
to me, and told me that he had met Major Meade, and that his disposition
was good. When I asked him what he advised-—whether:I shounld go or
remain—he said he would reply in the morning.- I then went to sleep,
and during the night some of the Sipshis of the Government came and
seized me, and took me to Major Meade’s camp. .

‘ Signature of T4nti4 Topi,
Agent of the Ndu4 S4hib.

- Question by Major Meade—Have you made this statement of your own-
free will and without compulsion ? and has any promise been made, or hope

held out to you, to induce you to give it ? .
Answer.—1I hLave, of my own free will, caused this statement to be
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written; and no one has forced me to do so, or held out hope or promise of
any sort to induce me to do so. )
Signature of T4nti4 Topf,
Agent of the Nin4 Séhib:
Signature of Witnesses,
(Signed)  Gangi-Parshdd Miinshi, Meade’s Horse.
Rubhii4l N4ib-Kaindér of Sipri.

The above deposition or statement was made by the prisoner T4nti4 Topt
in my presence on the 10th of April, 1859, at Camp Mshairi, of his own
voluntary act and without compulsion of any sort, or promise made, or hope
held out to him as an inducement to make it.

(Signed) R. J. MeaDE, Major,
Commanding Field Force.

- Certified that the above is a true and correct translation of the original
deposition or confession of T'4ntia Topi appended hereto. ’

(Signed)  J. J. M. Giseox, Lieutenant,
. . Adjutant Meade’s Horse.

(True copy)
(Signed)  R. MEADE.

APPENDIX C.
(Page 271.)
TRIAL OF THE EX-Kine oF DEerHLI

TaE Judge-Advocate-General then addressed the Court as follows :—

GEXTLEMEN,—It will he my object, in the present address, to collect
the different facts which have been elicited in the course of these proceed-
ings, and to furnish them to you, as far as possible, in the order in which
they originally occurred. Our investigation has involved inquiry over a
period of several months, when rebellion was rampant in this city; and T
trust we have succeeded in tracing, with considerable minuteness, many of
the different events as they evolved themselves during the time to which
I have referred. Our labours, indeed, have not had this limit, or we
should only have accomplished what might, I think, be termed the least
important part of our duties. In immediate connection with the facts
elicited are the charges on which the prisoner has been arraigued; and,
though his former rank and royalty will doubtless add somewhat of tem-
porary importance to the verdict which you will this day be called upon to
record, yet whether it be one of acquittal or conviction, it must, 1 imagine,
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prove light in the balance when weighed against those more monstrous
points to which so much attention has been, and for a Jong time will still
be, directed. I, of course, allude to the causes, either remote or
imnmediate, which gave rise to a revolt unparalleled in the annals of
history, either for the savagery which has been its distinguishing feature,
or for the suddenness with which elements, hitherto deemed utterly dis-
cordant on the score of religion, have united themselves in a common
crusade against a faith which, as regards the inhabitants of this country,
whether Muhammadan or Hindu, was certainly a most unaggressive one. I
fear, however, the subject is still but imperfectly elucidated, and I may,
perhaps, be in error in attributing to a religious influence a movement
which, after all, may prove to have been merely a political one; a struggle
of the natives for power and place, by the expulsion from the country of &
people alien in religion, in blood, in colour, in habits, in feelings and in
every thing. Whatever the final opinion on this subject may be, the
questions which, as far as I am aware of, have not as yet found a satisfac-
tory solution, are, by what circumstances was this most atrocious revolt,
with its series of massacres, brought about, and who were its prime
original instigators? I feel sure the members of this Court will join with
me in deeming that our proceedings do not furnish a full and complete
answer to such questions; and why do they not? I believe it is simply
owing to the circumstance that any mrerely local investigation must be in-
adequate to collect evidence from the different quarters and sources, which
are no doubt available elsewhere, We may still, however, hope that our
efforts on this point have not been fruitless or unavailing; if we cannot
congratulate ourselves on an entire success, we may perhaps be allowed
credit for a near approach to it. Few, I imagine, will peruse these volu-~
minous proceedings without coming to the conclusion that intrigues and
conspiracy have long been rife at this fostering court of Dehli. Insienifi-
cant and contemptible as to any outward show of power, it would appear
that this possessor of mere nominal royalty has ever been loocked npon by
Muhammadan fanaticism as the head and culminating star of its faith. In
him have still been centred the hopes and aspirations of millions. They
have looked up to him as the source of honour, and, more than this, he
has proved the rallying point not only to Muhammadans, but to thousands
of others with whom -it was supposed no bond of fanatical union could
possibly be established. To throw the fullest light on a subject like this
is not the work of a day or of a month. Time, the great revealer of
secrets, will doubtless, sooner or later, lay bare the springs from which a
stream of so much evil and misery has flowed; but, till then, we must be’
content with such views as our present investigation affords. 'That we
have been able to unravel many ot the secret workings of the conspirators
will, I believe, be conceded; but let me not anticipate. This is a point of
our inquiry on which I purpose to offer some observations hereafter; but
a concise narrative of events will perhaps best suit the commencement of
this address.

I may state, then, that 85 men, non-commissioned officers and troopers
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of the 3rd Light Cavalry, who were tried by general court-martial at-
Mirath in May last, for refusing their cartridges, had their sentence read
to them and were ironed on the parade-ground early on the morning of the
9th of May, and that the mutiny of the three native regiments at Mirath
first openly developed itself at about balf-past six o’clock on the evening of
the 10th of May, during which interval of nearly 36 hours there were, of
ocourse, plenty of opportunities for interchange of communications between
the native troops who first rebelled at Mirath, and those who joined them
at this station. To travel from one place to another by coach used
ordinarily to take about five hours; and that the mutineers availed them~
selves of this facility of mutual intercourse has, I think, been clearly
established by the evidence of Captain Tytler. It appears, from his state-
ment, that a coach full of these Mirath mutineers, came on Sunday
evening to the lines of the 38th Native Infantry, doubtless to prepare the
Sipdhis of this station for the arrival and suitable reception, on Monday
morning, of their rebel comrades; and, although we may not possess
positive evidence to the fact, yet it may fairly be presumed that Sunday
evening was not the first occasion that these plotters of evil held their
secret and sinister councils together. Indeed we have it on record that,
even before the Court, which tried the mutinous cavalry at Mirath, bad
come to any decision on their case, a compact had been entered into to the
effect that, if the use of greased cartridges was persisted in, the troops at
Mirath and Dehli would unite, and at once unfurl the standard of revolt;
and so fully bad this arrangement been perfected and agreed onm, that it is
related that the Sipdhi guards at the gate of the palace on Sunday evening
made no secret of their intentions, but spoke openly among themselves of
what they expected to occur on the morrow. I'o understand the merits
and demerits of the whole transaction, it must be recollected that, at the
time when these resolutions were arrived at, there was not a single greased
cartridge in the magazines of either of the three native regiments at
Mirath, nor, as far as I have been informed, of those at Dehli either. 1t
must be further borne in mind-that the native soldiers themselves were the
persons who were perbaps the best informed on these points; that the
cartridges for practice had, from time immemorial, been manufactured in
the regimental magazines by persons of their own colour, creed, and
religious persuasion; that it was absolutely impossible to palm off on them
a spurious article; that the regimental kh4lisis, who were employed in
making these cartridges, must have at once discovered their impurity, if
such had really existed ; that, in fact, objectionable cartridges (I mean
such as wounld affect the religious prejudices of either Musalmén or
Hindu), could not possibly have been made in their regimental magazines,
as in such case the very men to be employed in their manufacture would
have refused their work; but, more than this, let it be remembered that
the Muhammadaa has no caste, that even the hybrid such as the Muham-
madan of Central India has become, half Musalmén and half Hindu, does
not pretend to a loss of religion, even from touching pork. Who is there
amongst us that bas not and does not almost daily witness these Muhamma-
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dans, in the capacity of table servants, carrying plates and dishes which
openly contain the very substance which, in reference. to the ecartridges,
has been made the pretence and the stumbling block of their offence?
Even if we were to admit that all the cartridges were thoroughly saturated
with pig’s and with cow’s fat, still what real valid objection on the score of
their religion could the' Muhammadan Sipshis have had in using them ?
Their brothers and other relatives in the private service of officers never
hesitate to handle or cook the dishes which they are required to bring to-
our tables. Tho objections of the Muhammadan Sip4his on this head are
so transparently false, that it can hardly be a matter of wonder that not one
man of sense or respectability among them appears ever to have come for-
ward to seek information or satisfy himself as to the truth or falsity of
rumours so industriousty circulated about these cartridges that were to be
the means- of depriving .them of their faith, Some few—very few—
honourable exceptions have certainly held aloof from and openly repudiated
the conduct of their brethren; but such men have wanted neither
guarantees nor explanations in regard to a matter which was patent to all,
but have come to- their own conclusions on a subject where error had no
abiding place and mistake is incredible. That neither Musalmén nor
Hindu had any honest objection to the use of any of the cartridges at:
Mirath or at Dehli is sufficiently proved by the eagerness with which they
sought possession of them, and the alacrity with which they used them,
when their aim and object was the murder of their European officers, or
when, united under the banners of the prisoner at your har, they for:
months constantly went forth to fight against the power to which they
owed fealty and allegiance. Among the very numerous . petitions which-
have been brought under your notice during these proceedings, it may’
have struck the Court as very strange that there is not a single one in
which the slightest allusion is made to what the Sipéhis would have us’
believe to be their great and particular grievance. We bave had upwards’
of 180 petitions before the Court, written on all possible subjects, from the
tinkering of a cooking pot to the recovery of a mule or a crack in a horse’s’
hoofs ; and each thought worthy of the sign manual of royalty; but in the
free indulgence of such correspondence, when they evidently unburthened:
their minds to their adopted sovereign, and were certainly not restrained by
any delicacy of language or of feeling from venting their acerbity against.
their quondam European masters, we can find no trace of the original sin,-
no grease spot staining these effusions of disloyalty. - How instructive is it
that, among themselves, and when applying to us such language as
* damnable, hell-doomed infidels,” they apparently forego the first specific:-
offence, which they would bhave us believe has led them to mutiny and.
rebellion, and the perpetration of crimes at which humanity shudders.
‘When with each other, and, as they conceived, safe from the intrusion and.
inquiries of British officers, that insurmountable obstacle to their fidelity:
and allegiance, the greased cartridge, is apparently altogether lost sight of,
Not & whisper is heard of a grievance which, if a substantial one, must:
ever have been uppermost in the memories of all; must have been con-:
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tinually rankling in their minds and embittering their thoughts; must
have influenced them in their blood-thirstiness; and to themselves have
been their only extenuation for crimes such as may well exclude them from
mercy. What a contrast this to their speeches when uttered with a -
rospect of reaching European ears.. Greased cartridges are then always
grou ht forward ; the use of them forms the one continuous night-mare of
the Sipihi’s existence. Really, . if we reflect seriously on this—if we
remember that in reality there was not a single greased cartridge among
either of the three regiments which first broke out into mutiny, murdering
not only men, but unoffending women and children, and that. the Sipdhis
were perfectly aware of this; when we call to mind that, even if greased
cartridges had existed, and the use of them been required at the hands of
these miscreants, not one of the Muhammadans at any rate could possibly
have been injured thereby in any caste prejudice, or placed even in tem-~
porary difficulty with regard to his religious tenets—when to this we add,
what, is well known to every one in India, whether Hindu, Mubammadan, or
European, viz., that the native soldier has but to ask for his discharge, and
that in time of peace it is at once granted to him, without inquiry or diffi-
culty of any kind, it seems beyond the bounds of reason to imagine that
these men were drawn into acts of such :revolting atrocity by any
grievances eitber real or imagined. Let the chimeras, the disturbed dreams
of fanaticism, of wickedness, or of folly have been what they may ; let the
instigations to evil have been as industrious as possible, and then allow
that the Sipshis to be worked upon were as credulous es the grossest
ignorance could make them, still, if the greased cartridge had been the only:
weapon the tamperer had fo work with, but. the one envenomed shaft in
their quiver, how easy was the remedy.. It required no depth of know-
ledge, no philosopher to inform them that they could at once escape from
every possible perplexity by simply applying for their discharge. I know
not, gentlemen, what conclusion you may arrive at on this much-vexed
question, but, after pondering it in every way in which my reason has pre+
sented it to me, I am obliged to infer that something deeper and more
powerf{ul than the use of greased cartridges has been resorted to. :
The machinery that has set in .motion such an amount of mutiny and
murder, that has made its vibrations felt almost at one and the same
moment from_one end of India to the other, must have been prepared, if
not with foreseeing wisdom, yet with awful craft, and most successful and
commanding subtlety. We must recollect, too, in considering this subject,
that in many of the places where the native troops have risen against their
European officers there was no pretext even in reference to cartridges at
all; numbers of these mutinied, apparently, because- they thought - there
was & favourable opportunity of doing s0; because they were a hundred to
one against those in authority, and fancied that they might pillage, plunder,
and massacre, not only with impunity, but with advantage. . Is it possible
that such feariul resuits as these could have at once developed themselves
had the native army, previous to the cartridge question, been in a sound
and well-affected state? Can any one imagine that that rancorous, wide-
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spread enmity, of which we have lately had such terrible proofs, has been
the result of feelings suddenly and accidentally irritated ? Does it appear
consistent with the natural order of events that such intense malignity
should start into existence on one single provocation? Or can it be recon-
ciled with the instincts, the traditions, or the idiosyncrasies of the Hindus,
that they should recklessly, without inquiry, and without thought, desire
to imbrue their hands in human blood, casting aside the pecuniary and
other advantages that bound them to the causeof order and of the Govern-
ment? Or, more than this, can it be imagined that the three regiments at
Mirath, even when joined by those at Dehli, could have conceived an idea
so daring as that of overthrowing, by themselves, the British Government
in India ?

I think, gentlemen, every one must allow that if we had no other
evidence of a plot, no testimony indicative of a previous conspiracy, the
wery nature of the outbreak itself must have convinced us of the existence
of one. Inthe moral, as in the physical world, there must be cause and
effect ; and the horrible butcheries of the past year would remain an
anomaly and a mystery for ever, could we trace them to nothing more
occult and baneful than a cartridge of any kind. It will be observed, that
this point of the cartridges, so opeuly and frequently insisted on,at Mirath
and elsewhere, before the 10th of May, gradually becomes more and move
indistinct as the plot gathers strength and matures itself, and, after furnish-
ing the mutineers with their first war cry at Dehli, it seems to have
answered its purpose, and thenceforward was allowed to sink into disuse
and neglect. With little or no vitality at starting, it soon died a natural
death, and was succeeded by a reality of purpose, and a fixeduness of resolve,
that would have been worthy of a better cause. If we review the actions
and whole conduct of these mutineers, we shall soon see that, from the very
eommencement, they bear the impress of cunning and of secret combina-
tion. For instance, 85 of their comrades were ironed before them and sent
off to jail in their presence on the morning of the 9th of May; but this
occasioned no outbreak of fury. Not a sound or tone of dissatisfaction
escaped from the men, who, then and long before, must have had rebellion
in their hearts; no gesture indicative of sympathy with the culprits was
exhibited by any; in fact, as far as appearances could be trusted, the
infantry regiments at Mirath, and the remaicing portion of the 3rd Cavalry,
were as obedient and loyal as could possibly be desired : and this deception
was successfully resorted to ill their plans were matured, and the moment
for open revolt had arrived. The night of the Sth of May, twelve hours
after the imprisonment of the 3rd Cavalry mutineers had taken place, was
as favourable an opportunity as the night following, for & march upon the
nearest magazine; but there had not then been time for preparing the
Dehli Sipshis for & movement which the progress of events at Mirath had
doubtless precipitated sooner than their first calculations had led them to
expect. Hence the necessity for communicating afresh with Dehli, and
acquainting the Sipghis there with the drama that was to be enacted on
Monday the 11th, ‘That such was done is established by the evidence of
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Captain Tytler; for it would be difficult to assign any other motive for a
carriage full of Siphis coming over from Mirath on Sunday evening, and
driving straight into the lines of the 38th Native Infantry.

Again, we can perceive, in the very hour chosen for the outbreak at
Mirath, the same evidence of cunning and of craft. The plan, too, of the
Mirath cantonments gave considerable facilities for carrying out their plot.
The native lines are so completely separated from that portion of the can-
tonments where the European troops reside, that the disturbance and
uproar attendant even upon open mutiny could not be heard, or even
known, from one to the other until specially communicated. Officers may
naturally have been too intent on quelling the rebellion of their men to
think of officially reporting it. Be this as it may, there would be some
delay in turning out and supplying the Europeans with cartridges,
assembling their officers, and marching down a distance of not less than
two miles; so that, taking one delay with another, the mutineers might
fairly calculate, considering it was an utter surprise to all, on 1} hours of
safe and uninterrupted progress, and, as the outbreak commenced at half-
past six, this would have sccured them darkness and comparative security
for their further operations. This was what, in effect, actually took place.
On the Europeans reaching the native lines, it was already dark ; no Sipshis
were to be seen, and no one could tell whither they had gone, Subsequent
inquiry revealed that, guided by the instinct of cunning, the rebels had not,
at first, taken the direct or main road . to Dehli, neither had they left
Mirath in military formation, but, as dusk set in, had gone forth in parties
of five, 8ix or ten, to their fixed place of assembly. This was judicious for
their departure from Mirath, but would have been highly impolitic for
their entry into Dehli, where there were no European troops to avoid.
Something more imposing and demonstrative was required here, and
accordingly we find them crossing the bridge simultaneously massed in
columns, and in complete military array, with a portion of the cavalry sent
forward as a regular advanced guard.

It is on this occasion that we first prove the mutineers in immediate
connection with the prisoner at your bar. The first point to which they
turn, the first person to whom they address themselves, is the titular
majesty of Dehli. This circumstance has much significance, and, at- any
rate, tends to show that previous concert existed between them. The
prisoner’s. complicity, however, was, immediately after, openly to com-~
mence, Scarcely had the very serious nature of the outbreak had time to
develop itself, than his own special servants-—in the very precincts of his
Ealace—and almost, as it were, before his own eyes, rush to imbrue their

ands in the blood of every European they can meet with; and, when we
remember that two of. these were young and delicate women, who could
have given no offence, whose sex and age might have tamed any bearts
less pitiless than those of the human demons who destroyed them, we are
able to realise some slight portion of the horribly unnatural influences that
appear innate to Muhammadan treachery. How otherwise was it possible
that education, the pride of royal ancestry, a life of tranquil ease and coms
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parative refinement-should not have exempted this old and grey-headed
man from all connection with deeds which seem too barbarous for the very
outcasts of humanity, or even for the untamed but less savage denizens of
the jungle? - - . . _

‘We stop to inquire whether it has been proved in this court, and will be
repeated in after years, that the last king of the imperial house of Taimur
was an accomplice in this villany. The circumstances shall now be fairly
stated. These murders were committed in the broad glare of day, before
dozens of witnesses, and without the slightest attempt at concealment.
‘They were perpetrated, as has been already stated, by the prisoner’s own
retainers and within the limits of his palace, where, be it remembered even
under the Company’s Government, his jurisdiction was paramount. I shall
not, however, attempt to infer that these murders must have been pre-
viously sanctioned by the prisoner; mere inferences on such a point can-
not be accepted in a court of justice. I prefer to quote from the evidence.
It is Ahsan Ulla Khén, the physician, who is speaking, and who says, that
at the time referred to, he and Ghulém Abbas, the attorney in court, were
with the king, when it was told them that the troopers had killed
Mr. Fraser, and had gone up to Captain Douglas to kill him, and that this
was instantly confirmed by the return of the palki bearers, who told them
that they had witnessed Mr. Fraser’s murder; that his body was in the
gateway, and that the troopers had ascended to the upper building for the
purpose of murdering those there. 'Why the witness suppresses all men-
tion of the prominent part the king’s own servants took in these massacres
can easily be imagined. In a subsequent part of his examination he even
asserts that he never heard that any of the king’s servants joined in these
murders, nay, more, that it was not generally known who committed them.
Suchis the evasion of the king’s own physician, who doubtless was aware
of the importance that would necessarily attach to this point. It was not
generally known who committed these murders, and yet, at this lapse of
time, we have had no difficulty in tracing the individuals, and ascertaining
their names.” It was not generally known that the king’s’'own servants
were the murderers, and yet we find this very circumstance prominently
and specifically mentioned at the time in the pative newspapers of the
city. I need not, after this, recapitulate the evidence of all those who
have clearly and satisfactorily proved that the king’s servants were the
murderers; for their testimony stands unshaken and unrefuted. It will
amply suffice if I quote the statement of one of them, and which is as fol-
fows : © At this time Mr. Fraser remained below trying to suppress the dis.
turbance, and while thus engaged, I noticed that Haji, lapidary, cut him
down with a talwir, and almost at the same instant, some of the king's
servants cut at him with swords' till he was dead. One of Mr. Fraser’s
murderers was an Abyssinian, After this they made a rush to the upper
apartments, when I immediately ran round by another door and closed the
door at the top of the stairs, I was engaged in shutting all the doors,
when the crowd found entrance by the southern stair, and, having forced
one of the doors on that side, came and gave admission to the men who
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had assisted in murdering Mr. Fraser. These immediately rushed into the
apartments where the gentlemen, viz., Captain Douglas, Mr. Hutchinson
and Mr. Jennings, had retired, and attacking them with swords, at once
murdered them and the two young ladies. On this I ran down the stair-
case. As I got to the bottom, I was laid hold of by one Mundoh, a bearer
in the servica of the king, who said, ¢ Tell me where Captain Douglas is ;
you bave concealed him.” He forced me upstairs with him ; I said, ¢ You
have yoursclves killed all the gentlemen already ;’ but, on reaching the
room where Captain Douglas was, I saw that he was not quite dead.
Mondob, perceiving this also, hit him with a bludgeon on the forehead, and
killed him immediately.” Having now established that the murderers of
these ladies were the special servants of the prisoner, it will be well to
revert to the testimony of the physician, Ahsan Ulla Khin, and to ascer-
tain from him the steps the prisoner took on the murders being reported to
him, The only order he gave on this occasion appears to have been to
close the gates of his palace; and we naturally inquire whether this was
for the purpose of preventing the escape of the murderers. The evidence
distinctly proves that it was not. The physician, being further interro-
gated, is obliged to confees that the prisoner took no steps whatever either
to discover, to secure, or to punish the guilty, and attributes it to there
being much confusion at the time ; but if the king’s authority bad actually
been set aside, and by his own servants too, this would have been the most
forcible of all reasons for immediately re-establishing it, by at once bring-
ing the offenders to justice. That this was not done we have been already
informed, and we cau only account for it on the supposition that these acts

" of the prisoner's servants, if not instigated by himself, had yet actually
anticipated his wishes. We are thus perfectly prepared for what is to
follow, viz., that no servant was ever dismissed, and not the slightest
investigation or inquiry was ever instituted ; in fact, in -the words of the
question put to the witness, the king continued these murderers both in
his pay and in employment, and this 0o, as we have seen, when the very
newspapers of the day gave information against them. After this, is it
necessary to question whether he adopted these deeds as his own or not ?
I need not quote what may be the law of the land on such a point, for
there is a yet higher law which must acquit or condemn him, the law of
conscience and of sense; that law which every one who hears me can
apply, and which carries with it a verdict more terrible than that which is
pronounced in mere conformity to legal codes or military legislation : it is
a law that does nmot depend upon local constitutions, upon human
institutes, or religious creeds: it is a law fixed in the heart of man by his
Maker ; and can it now here be set aside ?

Perbaps it may now be time to turn our attention to what was doing at
the magazine, and to trace the further steps of the mutineers in that direc~
tion. Captain Forrest has told us that it was about 9 o’clock in the morn-~
ing when the main body of the native troops from Mirath was passing over
the bridge in military formation (that is, in subdivisions of companies),

"with fixed bayonets and sloped arms, the cavalry being in front. It was
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actually in less than one hour after this that a subahdar of the 38th Native
Infantry, who was commanding the magazine guard outside the gate, in—
formed them that the King of Dehli had sent a guard to take possession of
the magazine, and to bring all the Europeans there up to his palace, and
that, if they did not consent to this, none of them were to be allowed to
leave the magazine. Captain Forrest adds that he did not see the guard at
this time, but that he saw the man who had brought this message, and he
was a Well-dressed Musalmin. Nor was this all, for, shortly after the
above, a native officer in the king’s service arrived with a strong guard of
the king’s own soldiers in their uniform, and told the above-mentioned
subadar and the non-commissioned officers that he was sent down by the
king to relieve them of duty.

We thus see with what alertness and despatch this most important
object, the seizure of the magazine, was attempted. Is it, however, to be
believed that such was the ready, immediate, and, as it were, impulsive
decision of the king, or of those who formed the court? To attribute to
them anything of this nature would be to give them credit for a coolness
of calculation, combined with a quickness of apprehension, such as pertains
only to the more gifted of mankind. The scope and entire progress of the
scheme speak loudly of a plan previously arranged, and of deliberations
long matured by the counsels of many. Iodeed, it is difficult to conceive
that any one, not previously initiated in the secret, could, on the moment,
so promptly and so effectually have entered upon and adopted the details
necessary for carrying it out. You will recollect the extreme importance
of the decision, the magnitude of the interests at stake. You will call to
mind the cogent reasons and the numerous arguments that would naturally
array themselves against adopting so headlong and precipitate a measure,
It was, in fact, an invitation to a king to league himself with ruffians and
with cut-throats. Any inducement or prospective advantage that they
could hold out to him was faint and almost imperceptible, compared with
the open risk which he was to encounter. By embarking in so forlorn a
cause he imperilled everything ; his own life, and those of all belonging to
him, and for what? The distant glimmer of a c¢rown, which common
reason, or the slightest consideration, would have convinced him was a
mere ignis fatuus—a mockery of a sceptre, that would evade his grasp.
Are we to imagine that it was under such circumstances that this weak
and tremulous old man seized and improved his occasion, and with all the
rapid instinct of determination directed his own troops upon the magazine,
to establish himself there as the one point of primary and most vital im~
portance : and this too in the first moment of a surprise when nothing but
riot and disorder reigned supreme?  Or are we to suppose that there was
a secret and a deeper knowledge of what the other portions of the army
were already ripe for,and that the five or six regiments to commence with
were but the instalments of those that were to follow? Or, if such. pre-
vious understanding and collusion did not exist either with the king orany
of those immediately about him, are we to attribute to superstition and the
pretended revelation of dreams, circumstances which scarcely admit ef
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satisfactory solution by any more sober process? We have all heard, in
this court, of the vision of a hurricane that was to arise from the west with
a great flood of water, devastating the whole country, but bearing up on
its surges this descendant of ancient royalty, and that this vision, as inter-
preted by Hasan Askari, the priest, signified annihilation to the English
infidels by the power of the King of Persia, who was to restore sovereignty
to the heirs of the throne of Hindustan. Was it a reliance upon this that
expedited the otherwise tardy movements of these Asiatics, and gave
breadth and boldness to their decisions? I am aware that under other
circumstances, and in any but an eastern land, such unmeaning flights of &
bewildered imagination would be too trivial to dwell upon, too unsubstan-
tial for the gravity of comment ; but here, in seriously considering the
nature and progress of an extensive military revolt, they obtrude them-
selves on the mind as subjects capable of influencing for evil the destinies
of thousands.

These observations have been elicited by the marked and unusual energy
displayed in making the magazine the point of instant attack. It seems to
me that such cannot be accounted for by conspiracy among the Sipdhis
alone, for it was the king’s own troops who were the first to seek posses-
sion, and the military and systematic way in which this was done betrays
the authority by which the orders were issued. There was no confusion
here, no attempt at pillage : non-commissioned officers were appointed to
the separate guards for the different gates of the magazine, while another
guard superintended the labourers who were removing the stores that hap~
pened to be outside. How could such decision, such instant transformation
from chaos to system and to order, have resulted had not the king or some
of his officials been intrusted with a sort of programme of events? How,
in fact, could the king's troops have been in readiness and preparation for
such work without warning of some kind ?

If I have not succeeded in tracing to the king himself a foreknowledge of
the leading events that were to take place on Monday the 11th of May, I
trust it has been made obvious that the secret was in the possession of
some influential inmates of the palace. The babbling garrulity of the
prince Jawan Bakht sufficiently indicates this, for such is his joy at the
anticipation of murdering the English, that he is unable to restrain his
expressions of it. My chief object, however, has been to render clear what
I believe to be the truth, viz, that the conspiracy, from the very com-
mencement, was not confined to the Sipihis, and did not even originate
with them, but had its ramifications throughout the palace and the city :
and do not the murders which we have already adverted to tend to
corroborate this fact ? 'We have evidence that the mutineers of the 11th
and 20th regiments of Native Infantry, before the magazine was exploded,
proceeded to attack and escalade it, and it is then, for the first time, thaf
we find the king, through his' troops, acting in open alliance with thése
traitors to their government, = From that moment there is no furthex dis-
guise, and no attempt at concealment. Fairly launched into the sfream of
sedition, he is hurried onward by the swollen flood, which was no , however,

YOL. V. Y
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to bear him, as he imagined, to the throne of Hindustan, but to leave him
in its ebb a mere helpless wreck upon the sands. -

I would here pause for a second, to refer to Lieutenant Willoughby, and
to the brave men under him, who for so long a time held, against unnum-
bered odds, the magazine intrusted to them. One hardly knows which to
admire most, the penetration and sagacity which, at a glance, foresaw the
possible necessity for its destruction, and made arrangements accordingly ;
or the undaunted resolution with which the final sacrifice was accom-
plished. To do justice to such heroism will be the pleasing duty of the
historian. I can merely give it a passing notice, having to dilate on other
matters more immediately connected with the proceedings before us.

‘With the explosion of the magazine at Dehli, every hope of stemming
the torrent of rebellion seems to have vanished ; resistance had been there
protracted to its utmost possible extent ; the sacrifice was a final one; and
thenceforward the European community, if, in isolated spots, still preserv-.
ing the appearance of government authority, were left without one vestige
of real power, so that it soon became a duty to the state and to themselves
to save their lives by a timely retreat. Dehli was consequently abandoned
to the miscreants who had, in the short space of 24 hours, stained them-
selves with crimes which can scarcely be equalled in all the catalogues of
bygone iniquity. It is now that we find the king coming personally for-
ward as the chief actor in that great drama which had more than England
and Europe for its spectators, the progress of which was watched with such
absorbing interest everywhere by the antagonistic powers of civilisation
and of barbarism. The evidence shows that on the afternoon of the 11th
of May, the king, having entered the hall of special audience, seated him-
self in a chair, when the soldiery, officers and all, came forward one by
one and bowed their heads before him, asking him to place his hands .on
them. The king did so, and each then withdrew, saying whatever came
into his mind. The witness, viz., Ghulam Abbas, the prisoner’s attorney
in court, informs us that this ceremony of the king putting his hands on
the heads of the soldiery was equivalent to accepting their allegiance and
services; and he further states, that though he is not aware of any regular
proclamation haviog been made in Debli in reference to the king assuming
the reins of government, yet that such may have been done without his
hearing of it; but that on the very day of the outbreak the king's
authority was established, and that night a royal salute was fired of about
21 guns. .

These matters bring us to the charges against the prisoner, and it may
perhaps be as well now to consider them, not.so much in regard to.dates
as the sequence in which they have been drawnup. The first charge against
Muhammad Bahddur Shéh, ex-king of Dehli, is: “ For that he, being
« peusioner of the British Government in India, did, at Debli, at various

“es between the 10th of May and 1st of October, 1857, encourage, aid,
Vi0uhet Muhammad Bakht Khén, subahdar of the regiment of artillery,
of thos, g others, native commissioned officers -and ‘soldiers unknown, of
pretendedgi Company’s Army, in the crimes of mutiny and rebellion



JODHPOR:

stRGuY

¥

Pali -

& .

Raotangark o L
T, <«Fathpar MAP ‘)
3 g -
SHOWING TRAGK OF REBELS
N . o UNDER TANTIA TOPL.
.. Ldns® Yiehvs o ) . From their Defeat at Gudlidr, June 20, 1853,
i PMandinlt s[%a Alwar to Final Dzsperswn in March 1853,
. r .
S,
\7 e Didwinah _ Sca.le of English’ Mues
: “Négoz v vt R L FORL S SIS
B kS
[ )24 B3
LY JAYPULS o Dlwdss
v KISHANGABH “Lalsst T
MADHURAJPUR Fourdx
J Lipdr o7 gwldmx,%zw
. . - K expelled from
Koshdmd < x, ~Digi // I Gwegfu?r'lgth June 1858,
// o fter three days fighting.:
P e /
. WRe &~ K Td /
Nianagar. ' *Sarwdr TO‘? K.: g tgvu wigar ;; )/ 7
) A 7 4
) J;sf’- y / JHANSY -
'QV}\ v e Banairah { g " o 2 { ///
8. % BENDY. Sy Bartdeh ! ~ '
mmwﬁ i Sangante [ \ " o/
. Bhit d;:f\ K{ua Pass L4 ! Sipry I
d . 3 . I
Amaiter Gangd,p;: ‘a, N q/;ijwa :"H Shabhibéd \\ @&\»/,
S0 Phna s \ I e
Ka.nkraolf Bo."’“ &~ - /i % // ~T4l Bahat
N // oo
: Isdogarh® w}Ch}'hﬁ(hln’
/G fnah : i L‘ﬂ“‘mr
e ' A L )
Niawnch . Mordssa .~ x, } Sindwah
o s . Mangrdoh .
wr - . " Malthor
Voo | e |
N Jal A ~Sirenii »
S X \ Ravdioh irhe P Bebela dispersed, 7 Khord
. Y Partbgarh )( \\ Ssmerr LS 4 . March 1859, ;
- \ / X . ../ Biaora, N 3
. / \\ 3\ Nalkhavy Y, ) Bastidah N
S . / ‘Bag-6d
‘ i Baicsia « ¢ ¥
) Bmm
Shujdwalpar Y’wﬂ =~
*/ e U
N ¥ \

ok Karg*'.’fn
7

IGEOPAL {

Ea%ﬁ:pﬁr
B m
s
/ A
.ve!"' F
2Ohérwnah i
;{{5? !z R4
Buithile 4
i 17
Borp0m s -7 ’
g Mailghbt
£y oz A M

l
j
i

i
i




APPENDIX C. 323

against the State.” I am not going to weary the Court by repeating even
a tenth part of the evidence which has been brought forward to establish
these charges, but it is perhaps necessary to show that proof of them has
been recorded. Mr. Saunders, Officiating Commissioner and Agent to the
Lieutenant-Governor, has explained under what circumstances the prisoner
became a pensioper of the British Government in India, viz., that his
grandfather, Shéh Alam, after having been kept in rigorous confinement
by the Marsthés, on their defeat by the English in 1803, applied to the
British Government for protection. This was accorded, and from that
moment the titular kings of Dehli became pensioned subjects of the British,
It will be seen, then, that, as far as this family is concerned, there was no
wrong to be complained of, and nothing but benefits to be remembered.
The prisoner’s grandfather, Shih Alam, had not only lost his throne, but
had his eyes put out, and been subjected to every species of indignity, and
was still kept in most rigorous confinement, when the English, under Lord
Lake, appeared as his deliverers, and, with generous sympathy for his mis-
fortunes, bestowed on him rank and pension which, continued to his
successors, have maintained them in honour and in influence, till, like the
snake in the fable, they have turned their fangs upon those to whom they
owed the very means of their existence. The evidence that connects the
prisoner with Muhammad Bakht Khdn, subahdar of the artillery,’and which
of itself will be sufficient to establish the charge, is a document from
beginning to end in the prisoner’s own handwriting :

“To the especial Slave, the Lord Governor, Muhammad Bakht
Khin Bahddur,

“PReceive our favour, and understand that, whilst the Nimach force
have reached Alapur, its baggage is still here, and that you are therefore
directed to take 200 troopers and five or seven companies of infantry, and
have all the baggage alluded to, such as tents, &e., together with commis-
sariat supplies, conveyed by the gharis to Alapur. You are further directed
not to allow the infidels staying near the fdgah to advance. Be it known
to you further, that if the army returns without victory, and divested of
its appliances of war, the consequence must be disastrous. You have been
premonished, and you are to consider these orders stringent.”

. It is true there is no date to this communication, but the allusions in it
leave no possible doubt as to its having been written within the period em-
braced by the terms of the first charge.

Perbaps this will be the best place for the few observations I have to
offer on the defence. The prisoner, like every other that we have tried,
has, according to his own showing, been the mere victim of circumstances ;
declares that he had mno intelligence on the subject previous to the out-
break ; that the mutinous soldiery surrounded him completely, and placed
sentries on all sides; and that, fearing for his life, he kept quiet, and went
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to his own private apartments; that the mutinous soldiery kept the men,
women, and children prisoners ; that he twice saved their lives by entreaty
and persuasion, and that the third time he did all in his power to save them,
but that the rebellious soldiery would not heed him, and eventually carried
out their purpose of slaying those poor people against his orders. Now the
chief objection to all this is, that it is not only unsupported by evidence,
but is directly in the.teeth of all the testimony, whether oral or written,
and whether given by his own servants or by others. The entire defence
indeed is a mere tissue of denials of guilt ; assertions of his not having been
a free agent; and an endeavour to put the onus of bis misconduct upon
others. He cannot challenge the authenticity of the documents against
him, or the evidence of his own handwriting, or his own seal ; and his only
expedient consists in asserting, that what he wrote was by compulsion,
and that his seal was affixed in the same way.. The only dilemma that he
appears unable to extricate himself from, to his own satisfaction, in this
way, is the going out to Huméyun’s tomb, and coming in again. It was,
of course, necessary to state that the last was by his own choice and free
will; and this would scarcely have been possible had kis going out been
represented as compulsory ; for, if the Sipéhis had forcibly taken him out,
they would hardly allow him voluntarily to return, so we are treated with
the following curious account :—% When the revolted and rebellious troops
prepared to abscond, finding an opportunity, I got away secretly under the
palace windows, and went and stayed in Huméyun’s mausoleum.” One
would have thought that if he wished to separate himself from the
rebellions troops, his best plan would have been to have stayed in
Dehli, when they were preparing to abscond, instead of secretly planning
to go out with them. However, I do not mean to take the defence,
paragraph by paragraph, and thus refute it. My best reply to it, I believe,
will be by showing how fully and completely the charges have been proved,
and to this task I now again address myself, and proceed to the considera-
tion of the second count, which is, if possible, still more fully established
than the first. It runs as follows:— For having at Dehli, at various
times between the 10th of May and 1st of October, 1857, encouraged, aided
and abetted Mirgd Mughul, his own son, a subject of the British Govern-
ment in India, and divers others unknown, inhabitauts of Dehli, and of the
North West provinces of India, also subjects of the said British Govern-
ment, to rebel and wage war against the State.” The documents and
other evidence in support of this charge are so numerous that it would be
tedious even to reckon them. The newspapers speak of the appointment
of Mirz4 Mughul to the office of commander-in-chief; of his investiture
with a dress of honour; and other matters relating thereto. The oral
testimony is very strong on the same subject, while the discovered
correspondence shows that Mirz4 Mughul, the son, was perhaps, next to his
father, the leading chief of the rebels in Debli. I shall for form’s sake give
a short extract from a petition of Maulivi Mubammad Zohar Ali, police--
officer of Najafgarh. It is as follows s—
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% To the King! Shelter of the World !

“ Respectfully sheweth,—That the orders of the royal missive have been
fully explained to all the Thakurs, Chaudh4ris, Kanfingos, avd Patwaris
of this township of Najafgarb, and that the best arrangements have been
established. Further, that, agreeably to your Majesty’s injunctions, steps
are being taken to collect horsemen and footmen, and it is explained to
them, that their allowances will be paid from the revenue of this division
of the district. Your slave’s assurances on this point, however, will not
be believed till some Gh4zis, recently engaged, shall bave arrived. As
regards Nagli, Kakraula, Dachau Kalan and other adjacent villages,
your slave has to represent that, unrestrained by the dread of consequences,
and bent on all sorts of excesses, the inhabitants have commenced

-plundering travellers.”

This might, I think, be sufficiently conclusive as to the words of the
charge in reference to * aiding and abetting in rebellion Mirz4 Mughul, his
own son, and divers other unknown inhabitants of Delhi, and of the North
Western Provinces of India, inasmuch as the petition from which I am
quoting bears the autograph order of the prisoner referring it to his son
Mirz4 Mughul, and directing him quickly to send a regiment of infantry
with its officers to Najafgarh, in accordance with the wishes, and for the
purpose of aiding and abetting the petitioner’s schemes of raising horsemen
and footmen to fight against the English. But there is another petition,
which has not yet been submitted to the Court, having only lately come to
hand, and which may appropriately be introduced here. It is from Amir
Ali Khan, son of the Nawéb of Khurajpura, and is dated 12th of July. It
runs as follows :—

“To the King! Shelter of the World !

“ Respectfully sheweth,—That your petitioner has come to your royal
court, at which Darius might have served as a doorkeeper, having left his
house animated by the ambition to stake his life in your Majesty’s cause,
and laments that he has lived to see the day when the accursed English
bave presumed to direct their cannon against your royal dwelling, the
guardians of which are the angels of heaven. From the first dawn of
the powers of discernment, your petitioner has been trained, like the lion,
{K; conflicts and war, and has not, like the fox, been concerned for his

ife—
% Leopards destroy their prey on the summits of mountains,
Crocodiles devour theirs on the banks of rivers.”

“ Your petitioner submits that if his prayer is accepted, and the plans
and stratagems necessary in this war are entrusted to his judgment, aided
by your Majesty’s august auspices, he will, in three days, totally extermi-
nate these people with white skins and dark fortunes, It was necessary,
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and I have therelore submitted it. (Prayers for the prosperity of the
reign, and curses in bitter and filthy language against those who may wish
it harm.) Petition of the slave Amir Ali Khdin, son of Nawdb Dulél Khén,
son of Nawdb Najibat Kh4n, chief of Khurajpura.”

Autograph Order of the King, in Pencil,

“Mirzd Zohuruddin will make inquiries, and will give the
petitioner service.”

The ‘third charge is—* For that he, being a subject of the British Gov-
ernment in India, and not regarding the rf‘lui:y of his allegiance, did at
Dehli,%n the 11th May, 1857, or thereabouts, as a false traitor against the
State, proclaim and declare himself the reigning king and sovereign of
India, and did, then and there, traitorously seize and take unlawful

ion of. the city of Dehli ; and did mareover at various times between
the 10th of May and 1st of October, 1857, as such false traitor aforesaid,
treasonably conspire, consult, and agree with Mirz4 Mugchul, his own son,
and with Muhammad Bakht Khén, subahdar of the regiment of artillery,
and divers other false traitors unknown, to raise, levy, and make insarrec-
tion, rebellion, and war against the State ; and, further to fulfil and pexfect
his treasonable design of overthrowing and destroying the British Govern-
ment in India, did assemble armed forces at Dehli, and send them forth to
ficht and wage war against the said British Government.

That the prisoner was a pensioned subject of the British Government in
India has been already shown in treating of the first charge; and as the
‘British Government neither deprived him nor any member of his family of
any sovereignty whatever, but, on the contrary, relieving them from misery
and oppression, bestowed on them largesses and pensions aggregating many
millions of pounds sterling, the duty of their allegiance will, I think, be
readily admitted ; yet, as we have already seen, this traitor rushes to seize
the first possible opportunity of overthrowing and destroying the govern-
-ment of his benefactors. On the afternoon of the very first day of the
outbreak in the hall of special audience, he receives the obeisances of the
revolted Sipihis and by laying his hands on their heads unites with them
in & common brotherhood of infamy. It is perhaps difficult to realise such
a scene. An enieebled tremulous old man striving with palsied band to
reach a sceptre far too powerful for his puny grasp, and, while bent by age
and infirmity, inducting a monarch’s garb, to give, as it were, a benison
and a blessing to tke cause of the foulest treachery and murder! Dead to
every feeling that falls honourably on the heart of man, this shrivelled
impersonation of malignity must have formed no inapt centre-piece to the
group of ruffians that surrounded him!

There are several witnesses who speak to the circumstance of the
srisoner having been proclaimed. It is *variously stated as occurring on

ifferent days, and it is more than probable that such was actually the
case. One or two proclamations would hardly be sufficient to carry the
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information through all the suburbs: of so large a city as Dehli, The
prisoner’s attorney allows that the king’s authority was established on the
11th of May; and Guldb, messenger, being asked, ¢ Was the king pro-
claimed as the reigning sovereign immediately after the outbreak ?”
answered, “ Yes, the proclamation was made by beat of drum on the very
day of the outbreak, about three in the afternoon, to the effect that it was
now the king’s Government;” while Chuni, pedlar, another witness,
declares that, “On the 11th of May, about midnight, some 20 guns were
fired in the palace. I heard the reports at my house; and next day, at
about noon, a proclamation was made by beat of drum that the country
had reverted to the possession of the king,” The nexf paragraph in the
charge is in reference to traitorously seizing and taking unlawful ppssession
of the city of Dehli; but this is a point that I need not quote evidence to
establish. It is ditficult to turn our eyes in any direction without having
convincing proofs of it. The charge then.goes on to assert that the
prisoner “did at various times, between the 10th of May and: Jst of
October, 1857, treasonably conspire, consult, and agree with Mirzs Mughul,
his ‘son, and with Muhammad Bakht Khén, subahdar of the regiment, of
artillery, and divers other false traitors unknown, to raise, levy, and make
insurrection and war against the State” Mirz& Mughul was: publicly
appointed commander-in-chief, and a special state procession, in hotnour of
his being so took place a few days after the outbreak. The witness who
deposes to this is Chuni L4l, pedlar; but he is unable to specify the exact
date on which he witnessed it. Mirz4 Mughul’s authority after this seems
to have been uncontrolled, at any rate in all matters immediately relating
to the army, until Subahdar Bakht Khén, of the artillery, arrived, and was
appointed both Lord Governor-General and Commander-in-Chief. = The
date of his arrival was the 1st of July, and after that some jealonsy and
clashing of authority between the two Commanders-in-Chief is observable,
for, on the 17th of July, Mirz4 Mughul writes and informs his father, that
on that day be had formed up the army and taken it outside the city to
attack the English, when General Bakht Kbén interfered, and for a long
time kept the whole force standing inactive, wanting to know by whose
orders it had gone out, and, saying it was not to proceed without his
permission, caused it to return. Mirzé Mughul adds,  that having his
orders reversed cannot but cause vexation to any officer, high or low, and
begs that definite instructions may be given as to whom the real authority
over the army belongs.” There is no order on this letter, nor have we
any intimation what decision was come to, but that some better arrange-
ment was the consequence is evident, for on the very next day, the 18th
of July, we find Mirz4 Mughul and General Bakht Khén acting in concert,
as the following letter from Mirz4 Mughul to his father will show. It is
dated the 19th of July, and runs as follows :—*Since yesterday the
arrangements have been completed for carrying on active offensive opera-
tions both by night and duy. If aid could be afforded now from the
direction of Alapur, with the divine blessing, and through the influence of
your Majesty’s ever-during prestige, a final and decisive victory, it is to be
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expected, would soon be obtained. I fherefore pray that positive orders
may be issued from the throne to the Bareli general to afford the aid in
question ; that is, that he be directed to proceed with troops to Alapur,
and to make an attack on the infidels from that direction, while your
slave, with his division of the army, makes another on this side, so that the
two forces co-operating in the fight may in one or two days consign all the
damnable hell-doomed infidels to hell, Moreover, it is to be expected that
the force going to Alapur will cut off the enemies’ supplies. It was
necessary, and has therefore been submitted.” On this letter there is an
autograph order of the king to the following effect : ¢ That Mirz4 Mughul
will make whatever arrangements may be proper ; ” and also an after order,
apparently by Mirz4d Mughul,—* That an order be written to the Baréli
general.” T think this is conclusive of the three conspiring, consulting,
and agreeing together; but it may be as well to enter here two documents
‘which bave not as yet been submitted to the Court. One is & proclamation
from_ General Muhammad Bakht Khin, dated 12th of July, and is to the
following effect. It has, I should observe, been extracted from the * Dehli
Urda News” :—*Let it be generally known to the persons living in the
city and country, such as chiefs of freeholds, pensioners, landholders of
rent-free estates, &c., that if, from anxiety for their incomes, they have
hitherto continued on the side of the English, and have in any way colluded
with them by conveying intelligence or furnishing them with supplies,
.their having done so will not be considered inexcusable, . It is accordingly
now proclaimed, that all those who have been alluded to are to cherish
full confidence that when final and complete victory shall have been
obtained, provided their title-deeds, former and recent, shall on inspection
be fully verified, they will have the present provisions in their favour
continued to them, and that they will also receive compensation in full for
the entire period during which their incomes may have been suspended
owing to the present disturbances; but if, after receiving knowledge of
.these orders, any person shall, notwithstanding, forward intelligence or
furnish supplies, &c., to the English, he will be severely punished in the
way Government may determine. The chief police officer of the city is,
_therefore, ordered to have the signatures of all chiefs of freeholds, of rent-free
estates, and pensioners residing in his jurisdiction, written on the reverse
of this notification to them in this matter, in acknowledgment of their
having been.duly informed, and then to send the notification immediately
to his Excellency.” The other document is an order from the king, dated
the 6th of September 1857, and is addressed to the chief police officer of
the city. It runs as follows:—“You are directed to have proclaimed
_throughout the city by beat of drum, that thisis a religious war, and is
being prosecuted on account of the faith, and that it behoves all Hindu
and Musalmén residents of the imperial city, or of the villages out in the
country, as well as those natives of Hindustar who are arrayed against us
on the ridge, or are anywhere employed on the side of the armies of the
English, whether they be men of the eastern provinces, or Sikhs or
foreigners, or natives of the Himaldya Hills or Nipilis, to continue
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true to their faith and creeds, and to slay the English and their servants ;
and you are directed to have it further proclaimed, that those who are
now present with the English force on the ridge, whether they be people
of Hindustan, or foreigners, or hillmen, or Sikhs, or whatever country
they may be natives of, or whether they be Muhammadans, or Hindus born
in Hindustan, they are not to entertain any fears or dread of the enemy.
Whenever they come over to this side, kind provision will be made for
them, and they will be allowed to continue in their own creed and religions.
You are directed to have it proclaimed further, that all who wiil join ia
the attacks on the enemy, whether they be or be pot servants, will be
allowed to keep themselves whatever property they may take from the
English in plunder, and that they will beside receive additional rewards
from his Majesty, and will be amply provided for.” This paper, which I
have just perused, is an office copy, and was found recently among other
documents in the office of the king’s chief police station. It bears the
seal of that office, and is actually attested as a true copy by the signature
of Bhéo Singh, assistant to the King’s chief police officer. A more trust-
worthy and convincing document could hardly be laid before a Court.
Jt seems to me fully to complete the proof of the third charge, and
to render further quotation from the numerous other documents
unnecessary. It also tends to establish the latter portion of the fourth
charge,

To this charge I will now turn my attention. It accuses the prisoner
“of having, at Dehli, on the 16th of May, 1857, or thereabouts, within
the precincts of the palace at Dehli, feloniously caused and become
accessory to the murder of 49 persons, chiefly women and children of
European and mixed European descent.” As far as the murder of these
poor victims is concerned, I bave nothing to allege; the facts have been
detailed before the Court in all their horrid minuteness, and they are not
such as to be easily forgotten. ‘The cold-blooded, hardened villany tha
could revel in leading women and young children to the shambles, and
this, too, without the miserable apology of imagined wrong, or to the
mistaken zeal of religious frenzy, is something so inhuman that the mind
might well refuse to accept it as truth, did pot all the force of concurrent
ideas, of direct testimony, of circumstantial proof, and ‘elsewhere repeated
reactings of the same dreadful tragedies, enforce it upon our convictions.
Itis not, then, such admitted facts as the above that I am here called upon
to establish, They are unhappily but too prominently and painfully
shaped forth to require further illustration. It remains, however, to show
how deeply the prisoner stands implicated in this revolting butchery, and-
whether, as averred in the indictment, he did “feloniously cause and
become accessory to the murder of these 49 persons.” I shall not, in se
doing, attempt to avail myself of that law which makes all persons joining
in insurrection and sedition individually responsible for every act of violence
that may be committed by those with whom they stand leagued in illicit
combination, even though such acts may have been against their wishes
or without their cognisance. 1 mean, however, separately to consider each
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fact connecting the prisoner with the deaths of these women and children.
I will revert to the evidence of their capture, the place of their imprison-
ment, the fearful privations to which they were subjected, and the more
than cruel treatment which they experienced from the commencement of
their confinement, all of which were but too prophetic of the unltimate
doom that awaited them. 't'he first person whose testimony I shall have
‘to quote is Ahsan Ulla Khén, the physician. When asked— How was it
that 8o many Eoglish women and children were brought to the palace and
placed in confinement?” he replied—* The mutineers took them in and
about the city, and, having established their own quarters in the palace,
they brought their prisoners in with them too.” Being further interrogated,
he' declares that the mutineers did not retain the custody of their
prisoners, but, as each successive one was brought in, reported the circum-
stance to the prisoner, and were told to take the Europeans to the kitchen,
and keep them confined there, Being again questioned, he asserts that the
-king himself appointed the kitchen as the place of their confinement, and
-observed at .the time that it was a large, capacious building ; so that it
appears: that the prisoner not only fixed upon the building himself as the
‘place for herding indiscriminately together men, women and children, but
from its being in his own palace,and from his volunteering a description of
it, it is evident that he had some personal knowledge of what it was like.
He terms it a large, capacious building, but these are not very definite
‘terms, and when used in reference to different objects may relatively have
widely different meanings, To obviate any misconception on such a point,
I have, since Ahsan Ulla Khén gave this. evidence, visited the place
myself, and taken its measurements and description. The building is
40 feet long, 12 broad, and about 10 high. Itisold, dirty, and dilapidated,
and without the vestige of plaster; but it is worse than this, for it is dark,
has no made flooring, no windows, and is entirely without the means of
ventilation or. of lizht. There is- but one aperture to it, a miserable,
small wooden door; but I will now let Mrs. Aldwell describe it in her own
words :—*“ We were all confined in one room, very dark, with only one
door, ‘and no windows or other opening. . It was not fit for the residence of
any human being, much- less for the number of us that were there. Ve
were very much crowded together, and in consequence of the Sip&his, and
every one who took a fancy to do so, coming and frightening the children,
we were obliged frequently to close the one door that we had, which thus
left us without light or air. The Sip&his used to come with their muskets
loaded, and bayonets fixed, and ask us whether we would consent to
become Muhammadans and also slaves, if the king granted us our lives;
but the king’s special armed retainers, from whom the guard over us was
always furnished, incited the Sipshis to be content with nothing short of
our lives, saying we should be cut up in small pieces, and given as food to
the kites and crows. We were very indifferently fed, but on two occasions
the king sent us better food.” Such was the return made by this tiaitor
for the millions of pounds sterling bestowed by the English on himselfand
on his family! Having, as one of the witnesses has specifically stated, .
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“ abundance of room where these English women and children would have
been safe in the apartments occupied by the females of his own establishi-
ment,” where; it is said, “there are secret tecesses' in which 500 people
might be concealed, and where, even had the rebels dared to violaté the
sanctity of the zenana, all search would have been fruitless;” and there
being, according ‘to’ another witness, no 'scarcity -of vacant buildings in the
palace in which the ladies and children could have been kept in confise-
ment, and in which they might have had every comfort ; this minion of
English generosity preferred to select for them the very den set apart for
culprits and for felons, and where they even received far worse than a
felon’s treatment, for they were crowded into 4 small space, and 'were diily
‘exposed to the insult and eruelty of all' who chose to molest thein. - Such
-was the reqaital to the Englishi:for 'a princely pension and an imperial
palacel Itwill be observed, from the statements of Ahsan Ulla Khén and
Mrs.- Aldwell, that both agreé in attributing these measures personally to
the king; and when we recollect the trifling matters which were, on every
occasion, referred td- him, and which, as has ' beent * fully demonstrated in
this Court, received not - only his attention but were endorsed by his' own
autograph instructions, is’' there any room left for doubt, that-the more
important concerns were under his special control also? Indeed,the con-
current testimony -of many witnesses, and the irrefutable evidence of his
-own’ handwriting, incontestably: prove that such was the'case.’ It isthus
wo find the king appointing’ the prison; that the king’s 'special armed
‘retainers were always on’ guard-over the prisoners; that it is” the king
who supplies them with ' their very indifferent food, 4nd on two occasions
sends them some of better quality i and thus, too, the Sipihis asked ‘them
‘whether -they wounld™ consent to become Muhammadans and slaves if the
king granted them their lives; and who, on perusing even thus much of
the evidence, can doubt that he had the power of doing'so? Has'there
‘been one single’ circumstance elicited that shows that the prisonéx‘\\v‘en
wished to save them, or that he even extended to them one act of common
courtesy or kindness? Very far from it for, whilst ho check was given
to those who showed the prisoners every species of unmanly brutality; the
ordinary charity of giving food and water to a Christian' was severely
punished, and a Muhammadan woman, simply on this account, was actually
immured with the prisoners. Can the bitterness of rancour go further
than this? - Or is it possible to contemplate the place and nature of the
confinement fixed for these tender women and children, without coming to
the conclusion that a cruel death was from the first moment reserved for
them, and that, in the words of the witness, Mukund L4l, ¢ they were but
being collected 2* Indeed the edge of the sword seems to have been but a
merciful deliverance from the lingering death which confinement in so
loathsome a den, at such a season of the year, must eventually have
inflicted on all exposed to it.

‘Might I not here stop, and confidently on this point await the decision
of the Court against the prisoner? The proof, however, swells in volume
as it proceeds, and X mean to leave mno portion of it untraced. Guléb, a
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chaprdsi or messenzer, has distinctly stated that, a couple of days before
the massacre took place, it was known that the Europeans would be killed
in two days, and that, on the day fixed for the slaughter arriving, great
crowds of people were flocking to the palace. Every witness to the scene
who has spoken of it in Court has alluded to the crowds assembled, both
as spectators and actors, on the morning in question ; and, as this was at
the early hour of between eight and nine, there seems no doubt that
previous information of what was to take place must have been given.
Nothing indicates that an outburst of fury, either on the part of the
populace or military, in any way led to a catastrophe so awful. On the
contrary, the witness distinctly says that without orders it could not have
happened, and that there were but two sources from which such an order
could have emanated, viz., the king and his son, Mirzd4 Mughul ; adding,
that he does not know which of them gave the order. He, however,
distinctly states that he was present at the murder of these European
Pprisoners, and that he saw them all standing together, surrounded on all
sides by the king’s special armed retainers, or what you may term his
body-guard, and some of the infantry mutineers ; and that, though he did
not observe any signal or order given, yet, on a sudden, the men just
mentioned drew their swords, simultaneously attacked the prisoners, and
continued cutting at them till they had killed them all. A second witness,
viz.,, Chuni L4l, the news-writer, when asked by whose orders these
Europeans were murdered, distinctly replies that “it was done by the
king’s order: who else could have given such an order?” He and other
witnesses concur in stating that Mirz4 Mughui, the king’s son, from the
top of his house which overlooked the court-yard, was a spectator on this
occasion, this Mirz4 Mughul being at that time second only to the king
himself in authority. Is it credible, then, under such circumstances, that
the king’s own body-guard, bis special armed retainers, could have dared
to perpetrate this frightful butchery without bis order and against bis
wishes? If a doubt could be entertained on such a subject, it would, I
think, be speedily dissipated on a perusal of the writings evidently approved
by the prisoner, in which bloodthirstiness and sanguinary ferocity against
the English are so glaringly conspicuous. In reference to the presence of
Mirz4 Mughul, and in further proof that it was by the king's own orders
that these unhappy women and children were massacred, I shall quote the
testimony of the king’s own secretary, Mukund L4l. To the questicn,
“By whose order were the ladies and children that were prisoners in the
palace murdered ? ” he replies, “ These people were being collected for three
days ; on the fourth day, the infantry and cavalry soldiers, accompanied
by Mirz4 Mughul, came to the entrance of the king's private apartments,
and requested the king’s permission to kill them. The king was at this
time in his own apartments. Mirzd Mughul and Basant Ali Khin went
ioside, while the soldiery remained without. They returned in about 20
minutes, when Basant Ali Kbén publicly, and in a loud voice, proclaimed
that the king had given his permission for the slaughter of the prisoners,
and that they could take them away. Accordingly, the king’s armed
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retainers, in whose custody the prisoners had been, took them from the

lace of confinement, and, in connexion with some of the mutinous soldiery,

illed them.” It appears, then, Mirz4 Mughul had just come from the
prisoner’s presence, and was armed with his authority for carrying out this
most hideous deed of blood. It may seem almost superfluous to add any-
thing to the above; but the proof furnished by the extract from the
prisoner’s diary is so important and convincing that I feel bound to quote
it. The evidence of the physician, Ashan Ulla Khén, regarding it, is as
follows: *Was a Court diary of occurrences at the palace kept by order
of the king during the rebellion?”—dnswer. “The Court diary was
kept up as usual, according to the custom which bhad long preceded the
outbreak.,® Question. *Look at this leaf, and see whether you can
recognise the handwriting on it ?”—dnswer. “ Yes; it is in the hand-
wfriti’ng of the man who kept the Court diary, and this leaf is a portion.
of it.”

TraNsLATION of an Extract from the Court diary, for the 16th of
May, 1857.

“The king held his court in the Hall of Special Audience; 49 English
were prisoners; and the army demanded that they should be given over
to them for slaughter. The king delivered them up, saying, ¢ The army
may do as they please,” and the prisoners were consequently put to the
aword, There was a large attendance ; and all the chiefs, nobles, officers,
and writers presented themselves at court, and had the honour of paying
their respects.”

Here, then, we have oral as well as most unimpeachable written testi-
mony, all concurring on this point, and it would seem nearly impossible
to make the proof clearer, had we not the prisoner’s written confession of
the crime. I do not mean in his defence, which is simply a document
framed for this Court, and is but a mere tissue of false denials, without an L
effort at refuting what stands so prominently against him. I allude, of
course, to his long letter to bis son, Mirz4 Mughul, in which he actually
makes merit of the slaughter of his Christian prisoners, and urges it as a
reason why the soldiery should be more attentive to his commands. After
this, to prolong any argument on the subject would be improper. There
is, then, but the last portion of the fourth charge uncommented on; and
to establish it we have copies of circulars addressed from the King to Réo
Bhara, the Ruler of Kach Bhuj, to Ranjit Singh, Chief of Jasalmir, and

to Réjah Guldb Singh, of Jammu. The following extracts will be
sufficient, viz, :— '

To Rao Bhara, Ruler of Kach.

" It has been reported that you, ever-faithful one, have put the whole
of the infidels to the sword, and have thoroughly cleansed and purified
your dominions of their unclean presence. We have been extremely
gratified to hear of such conduct on your part, and you are therefore
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honoured .with this address, to the intent that you will institute such
arrangements through your territory as that none of the creatures of God
may in any way be aggrieved or oppressed. Further, should any number
of ‘the infidels reach your dominions by sea, you will -have them slain.
In--doing thia you will act entirely in accordance with our pleasure and
wishes.”: . ‘ .

To Rangjit Singh, Chief of Jasalmir, *

“It is clear to our belief that throughout your dominions the name
and trace of these ill-omened infidels, the English, must not have remained ;
if, however, by any chance or possibility some have escaped till now by
keeping hidden and concealed, first slay them, and after that, having made
arrangements for the administration of your territory, present yourself at
our court with your whole military following. Considerations and friend-
liness a thousand-fold will be bestowed on you, and you will be distin-
guished by elevation to dignities and places which the compass of your
qualificativus will not have capacity to contain.”

To Rdjah Guldb Singh, Ruler of Jammu,

#] bave been made acquainted, by your petition, with all the particulars
of the slaughter throughout your. territory of .the accursed unbelieving
English. You are considered worthy of a hundred commendations. You
have acted in this matter as all brave men ever acquit themselves ; may
you live and prosper.” Again: “Come to the royal presence,and slay the
accursed, unbelieving English, and all other enemies, wherever you may
find them on the way. Whatever may be your hopes and. expectations,
the dignity and elevation to which you will be promoted amongst your
equals will surpass all that you may be able to imagine; and you will
further be rewarded and dignified with the title of R4jah.” On one of the
petitions fo the king from a duffadar of the 4th. Irregular Cavalry, boasting
of having murdered his officers at Mazaffarnagar, the order for an appoint-
ment in return is in the prisoner’s own bandwriting.

“I berewith conclude my observations on the charges, and it will now
remain, gentlemen, for you by your verdict to determine whether the
prisoner at your bar, in retirement and seclusion, may yet claim the respect
due to deposed majesty, or whether he must henceforth rank merely asone
-of the great criminale of history., It will be for you to pronounce whether
this last king of the imperial house of Taimur shall this day depart from
his ancestral palace, bent down by age and by misfortune, but elevated,
perhaps, by the dignity of his sufferings and the long-borne calamities of
his race, or whether this magnificent hall of audience, this shrine of the
higher majesty of justice, shall this day achieve its erowning trinmph in a
verdict which shall record to this and to all ages that kings by crime are
(degraded to felons, and that the long glories of a dynasty may be for ever
gfiacedinaday. =~
... The consideration of the specific charges against the prisoper being now
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cloged, I trust it may not be thought presumptuors if I offer some observ-
ations on the evidence elicited as to the cause of the late rebellion, and of
the existence of previous conspiracy. I have, in a former part of this
address, argued that if the pative regiments, previous to the cartridge
question being mooted, had been in a sound and well-affected state, such
a frightful and all but universal revolt could not have occurred ; .that there
must have been some other and more latent power at work to have thus
operated on a whole army scattered in different cantonments from Calcutta
to Peshawur. 1 think thbat such could not have been accomplished withont
some secret mutual understanding, and some previous preparation, the
establishment of which may appropriately be termed conspiracy. .I have
stated also that it seems as if it was not owing to a cartridge of any kind
that such an amount of mutiny and murder has solely to be attributed,
but I should be more than blind to all that has appeared on these proceed~
ings and elsewhere if I failed to recognise in the. cartridge question the
immediate means or instrument adopted for bringing about a much-desired
end. It seems to bave been the spark, not accidentally shot forth, but
deliberately cbosen to explode a mine previously prepared. In alluding
then, to the existence of a conspiracy, I do not mean to imply that we
have come upon traces of a particular gang of men, specially banded
together for the fixed definite ohject of causing the late rebellion in the
native army, in any manner similar to that in which we have seen it
developed, but such evidence as we have been able to obtain does appear
to me to point out that, for a considerable time antecedent to the 10th of
May, agitation and disaffection to British rule among the Muhammadans
was more than ordinarily prevalent, and that such disaffection had been
stimulated by active and designing men, who have most craftily taken
advantage of every circumstance that could be made suitable for such a
purpose. The annexation of Oudh to British rule was, perhaps, one of

these. Itseems to have been particularly displeasing to the Muhammadans, -
as annihilating the last throne left to them in India; and, for some other
reasons, it would appear to have been almost equally unpalatable to the
Hindu Sipdhi. It may, perhaps, bave interfered with his position there as
a privileged servant of the Company : for, instead of having to rely on the
influence and prestige of the Dritish Government in dealings or disputes
with the native landholders of that province, he found himself brought at
once under direct European control. One of the witnesses, Jit Mall,
draws a marked distinction between the Hindu Sipéhi and the Hindu
tradesman in reference to their feelings for the British Government; and
perbaps the annexation of Oudh, with other causes, may tend to account
for it. Being asked whether there was any difference between the
Muhammadans and Hindus in this respect, he replies, “ Yes, certainly, the
Muhammadans as a body were all pleased at the overthrow of tue British
Government, while the merchants and respectable tradesmen among the
Hindus regretted it,” He, however, says that the general feeling throughout
the army was the same both among the Hindus and Muhammedans, and
that they were both equally bitter ; and this view of the case is, X think,
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supported by our experiences of both. The great bulk of the infantry
portion of the native army was undoubtedly Hindu, but we have not found
this any check or restraint upon their revolting barbarity; and, as far as
the army has been concerned, Hindus and Muhammadans appear to have
vied with each other only in the enormity of theircrimes. But, apart from
the army, the revolt has perhaps assumed many of the features of a Musal-
min conspiracy, and it is, I think, probable that to Musalmén iptrigue
may eventually be traced those false and fabricated rumours which,
adroitly mixed up with some small portion of truth, have been so instru-
mental in effacing the last vestiges of fidelity in an army whose faithful-
ness was at one time perhaps its very chiefest pride and boast. It does
not belong to such an occasion as this to revert to past years, and step by
step to trace the causes which have combined to destroy the reliance once
placed upon those who are now so notorious for their perfidy. Some of
these causes doubtless have been beyond Government control, and were,
perhaps, inherent to a state of continued progress on the one side, and an
inveterate priestly opposition to it on the other. It will be sufficient if I
here merely allude to several previous occasions, not of very distant date,
when some regiments of the native army showed how littie they were to
be depended on. On those occasions also it was evident that a unity of
purpose and a singleness of feeling were in a short time organised by some
process not immediately patent to their European officers; a mutual
correspondence either by emissaries or letters was perhaps then initiated,
and the lesson thus learnt was not easily forgotten. 1 do not mean to
argue that from that time the native Indian army became one large
debating society ; very far from it; I believe that in their own fashion
most of the Sipdhis were good and well-meaning servants of the Govern-
ment. I say,in their own fashion, because it appears to me they are
always deficient in natural firmness, and have no idea of strong meoral
rectitude ; their fidelity, as long as it exists, is more of a habit than of
a principle, upheld by superstition, but wanting the sustaining power of
true religion. Among such a body as this there must always be some
discontented intriguers ; and who that knows anything of Asiatic character
will not readily admit, especially with reference to Hindus, that the few
are more potent for evil than the many for good? Let but three or four
leaders come forth in all the open audacity of crime, or mix themselves up
in the secret intrigues of sedition, and the rest, if not immediately panic-
struck, never think it their duty to check or oppose them. They may
excuse themselvey for a time, by holding aloof from what they do not
approve, but active interference, even in prevention of mutiny and murder,
seems to form no part of their creed, either religious or political. The
most serious crimes are thus passively encouraged; and, temporary im-
munity securing proselytes, all are eventually engulfed in the same depths
of infamy : thus the crimes of a few lead to the ruin of many. That
these influences have been vigorously at work in extending the late rebel-
lion I think few will be inclined to deny. I am aware that no correspond-
ence, and perhaps little direct evidence to such a point has been brought
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before the Court ; indeed, in reference to the Sipéhis, we have not been in’
a position to obtain either one or the other; still, if, as has been currently
and, I believe, truly reported, that the number of letters passing among
our native soldiers, for & month or two prior to the outbreak was very
considerably larger than usual, this circumstance, combined with such
facts as have come.under our notice, would lead almost irresistibly to the
conclusion that some sinister agitation had been extensively at work, and
that increased disaffection and subordination would necessarily be the
result ; moreover, that in such a state revolt would reduce itself to a
mere calculation of time. In the above remarks I have attributed much
of what has occurred to the pernicious influence of evil intriguers, and it
may naturally be inquired why these should have had greater effect at the
present juncture than at any former one. Some of the causes I have
already hinted at, such as the annexation of Oudh and the progress of
European civilisation, outstriding, and in its natural course threatening to
sweep away the puny barriers upraised by priestly cunning for the preserv-
ation of the grossest ignorance, and thus commencing the subversion of
religions that are unable to bear the lights of even natural science. I
believe, tvo, that the propagandists of sedition may artfully have availed
themselves of some recent acts of the Government to spread panic and
alarm in reference to future forcible interference with caste prejudiées. I
allude to the agitation about the remarriage of Hindu widows, the enlist-
ment for general service, the cartridges, &c, I do not mean in this to
offer the slightest apology for men whose conduct excites nothing but
loatbing and disgust. Pampered in their pride and besotted in their
ignorance, they had 88 a body become too self-sufficient for military
subordination and unhesitating obedience. Experienced, as they were, in
mutual combination, they appear again easily to bave entered into schemes
for dictating to the Government their views in reference to imagined
grievances ; but that open, defiant mutiny had been generally resolved
upon by the army-—or, at any rate, by the Hindu portion of it, prior to
the trial of the 3rd Light Cavalry troopers—is more, I think, than.has
been established. Up to that time there was, no doubt, a feeling of
uneasiness, a restless apprehension, and an air of respectful mutiny per-
vading the native ranks. The Sipihis in many instances appeared o
imegine that disobedience to military command was ecarcely criminal if
accompanied by & salute and a submissive demeanour. Habituated to
combination, and well aware of the strength of numbers, they latterly had
seldom lost an opportunity of bringing forward their grievances, not
individually, but in masses. On such points there was no difference
between Musalméin and Hindu; they could both readily unite, and had
already done so, for the purposes of insolent dictation. Indeed, if we
search back into history, I believe we shall find that this has ever been
what I may term the normal condition of Asiatic armies; and it is,
perhaps, the necessary result of giving unity and power to large bodies of
men without the checks furnished by education, loyalty, and religious
principle to control them : military discipline without these auxiliaries is
VOL. V. Z
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but a dangerous weapon, and one that has frequently been turned azainst
those who have sharpened and prepared it. As a corollary to this, it may
be observed that rebellion and insurrection. among the unarmed and
untutored people of Asia is rare indeed ; even the forcible conversion of
the Hindus to Mubammadanism under former emperors of India seems to
have been insufficient to rouse them to resistance. It is, then, the attempt
at domination by the Sipihi alone that has to be guarded against. The
distinctions of caste may, to a certain extent, at former periods have
proved serious obstacles to any very extensive combination of men of
different sects, either for political or other purposes, but we should
remember that this very circumstance of caste companionship has neces-
sitated the existence of a number of distinct self-governing societies, has
habituated the people of Hindustan to meetings among themselves where
publicity is avoided, and thus, giving them their primary lessons in uniting
for particular objects, has endowed them with a natural facility for mor:
extended combinations, of a secret and sinister character. Under these
circumstances, there wanted but the means and the occasion for carrying
them: out; and who does not perceive that the native army afforded the
one, and a variety of incidents have favoured the other? Brahman and
Musalmén here met, as it were, upon neutral ground; they have had in
the army one common brotherhood of profession, the same dress, the-same
rewards, the same objects to be arrived at by the same means. They
frequently joined each other in their separate festivals, and the union
encouraged by the favour of the Government was finally resorted to as a
measure to subvert it. I do not, however, intend.to dwell on all of the
many influences which may have assisted in bringing about the recent
catastrophe ; such a discussion in this place might not be approved of.

It seems to me, however, apparent that it was not and could not have
been the greased cartridges alone that effected it. There was previous
preparation among the Sipshis; and there was also a general unsettling
of men’s minds throughout the country, and among the Muhammadans in
particular. I believe, indeed, that the facts elicited on this point may be
ranged appropriately under the head of ¢ Muhammadan conspiracy,” the
chief object of which seems to have been to spread disaffection and distrust
of British rule, and, by the dissemination of false and evil reports, and by
fabrications of the most insidious kind, to prepare all the people for change
and inswrrection. As far as can be traced, the commencement of this
must have originated with the prisoner, or with some of those such as
Hasan Askari and others, who were admitted to his most secret and
confidential councils. Be this as it may, there cannot, I imagine, be a
doubt that in sending Sidi Kambar to Persia and Constantinople as an
-ambassador with letters to the sovereign of that country, soliciting aid and
elevation. to a throve, the prisoner became the principal in a conspiracy
which indirectly, at any rate, must have been auxiliary to the recent
‘frightful outbreak and its attendant horrors. It is worthy of particular
‘notice, as connecting the two together, that this Sidi Kambar’s departure
:took place, according to the most reliable account, just two years before
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May 1857, and that his promised return, with the aid sought for, was:
fixed for the time when the outbreak actually took place. Coupling this.
with the prophecy among the Muhammadans that English sovereignty in
India was to cease 100 years after its first establishment by the battle of
Plassey.in 1757, we are able to form something more than conjecture as
to the causes which have given to Muhammadan fanaticism its delusive,
hope of recovering all its former prestige. I have already ailuded to.the
dream of Hasan Askari the priest, and its interpretation so plausibly:
contrived to correspond with. the wishes of the king, and of . those about:
him. The circumstance may seem trivial to us, but it was doubtless a’
means well calculated to make a deep impression upon the superstitious:
minds of those to whom -it was addressed, and to cause expectation and
belief in what was predicted by one said to be possessed of miraculous.

wers, and accredited with holding direct communication with Heaven.

e learn too from the petition of Muhammad Darwesh to Mr. Colvin,
the Lieutenant-Governor, dated 27th of March, 1857, that Hasan Askari
had, at this time, assured the King of Dehli that he had certain informa-
tion that the prince royal of Persia had fully taken possession of and
occupied Bushir, and that he had entirely expelled the Christians, or,
rather, had not left one alive there, and had taken away many of them
prisoners, and that, very soon indeed, the Persian army would advance by.
the way of Kandahar and Kabul towards Dehli. He, moreover, adds,
“That in the palace, but more especially in that portion of it constituting
the personal apartments of the king, the subject of the conversation
night and day was the early arrival of the Persians. Hasan Askari has,
moreover, impressed the king with the belief that he has learned, through
a divine revelation, that the dominion of the King of Persia will 10 a
certainty extend to Dehli, or rather over the whole of Hindustan, and
that the splendour of the sovereignty of Dehli will again: revive as the
sovereign of Persia will bestow the crown on the king.” The writer
goes on to say that throughout the palace, but particularly to the king,
this belief has been the cause of great rejoicing, so much so that prayers
are offered and vows are made, while, at the same time, Hasan Askari has
entered upon the daily performance, at an hour and a half before sunset,
of a course of propitiatory ceremonies to expedite the arrival of the Persians
and the expulsion of the Christians. It has been arranged that every
Thursday several trays of victuals, wheat-meal, oil, copper money and
cloth should be sent by the king in aid of these ceremonies, and they are
accordingly brought to Hasan Askari.” S

We thus see how early and how deeply the priesthood interested and
engaged themselves in this matter, and how completely and - exclusively
Muhammadan in character ‘was this conspiracy.” If we could but have
stepped behind the scenes, and witnessed these ceremonies at which super-
stition presided, and have heard these prayers and vows offered up for the
arrival of the Persians and the expulision of the Christians, we should
doubtless have had depicted to us the foreshadowings of those dreadful
tragedies which, to all time, will render the past year so painfully memo-

z 2
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rable. 'We may imagine and faintly conceive to ourseclves some portion of
the rancour of these Mubammadans, when we recollect not only their deeds,
but the concentrated hatred which breathes through their petitions, and
does not stop with this world, but rejoices in the idea of eternal torments
for us hereatter. One cannot help inquiring whether there are really many
millions -of human beings in Hindustan imbued with these feelings for
Europeans. I will leave those who hear me to form their own opinions
on this subject without venturing to proffer mine. We learn, however,
from Mrs, . Aldwell that during the Muharram festival she heard the
Muhammadan women praying and teaching their children to pray for the
success of their faith, and these prayers were generally accompanied by
execrations against the English. Nor did even accomplishing the cruel
death and sufferings of helpless women and children tend.in any way to
abate the ferocity of their malignity, or to waken cne chord of mercy or
commiseration in their breasts, for we find from the local newspapers that
at the time this most hideous massacre was being perpetrated about
200 Musalmin were standing at the reservoir, uttering the coarsest
abuse against the prisoners. Were it not too well attested, such demoniac
malignity would scarcely be credible. ‘

The next point to which I shall advert, is the circulation of the
chapaties, in the form of ship biscuits. Now, whether they were sent
round under the fiction of a Government order, signifying that in future
there should be but one food and one faith, or whether, according to
another interpretation, they were meant to sound a note of alarm and
preparation, giving warning to the people to stand by one another on any
danger menacing them, the contrivance was a most insidious one, and
calculated to breed distrust and suspicion in the hearts of many who were
strangers to such feelings before. That it created no stronger impression
on the native mind thau it did, is perbaps attributable only to the early
check it received at the hands of authority, and it would doubtless be
both interesting and important if we could discover how and by whom
such a proceeding was initiated, This and the false rumour about mixing
ground bones with the flour had doubtless one common origin, and it is
not going beyond the bounds of fair indication or reasonable inference to
attribute both one and the other to the unceasing wiles of Muhammadan
conspiracy. We perceive that the Hindu Sipshis, under the impulse of &
first reaction in their feelings, reproached the Muhammadans with mis-
leading them, and it is a must significant fact on these proceedings, that
though we come upon traces of Musalmén intrigne wherever our investi-
gation bas carried us, yet not one paper has been found to show that the
Hindus, as a body, had been conspiring against us, or that their Brahmans
and priests had been preaching a crusade against Christians. In their
case there has been no king to set up, no religion to be propagated by the
sword. To attribute to them, under such circumstances, the circulation
of these chapaties or the fabrications about ground bones in the flour,
would be to ascribe to them acts without a meaning, and a criminal
-<deception without any adequate motive. A very marked feature in this
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Muhammadan conspiracy is the activity and persistence with which it has
been carried out; the circulation of the chapaties having been early pro-
hibited by authority, and thus rendered non-effective for the purpose of
extensive sedition, some other expedient was necessary to replace it, and
we at once find the tale of the * bone-dust mingled with flour” very
adroitly selected as the substitute. 1t was, in fact, still adhering to the
material of chapaties, and continuning the symbol of *one food, one faith.”
It was indeed the chapaty without its form, arid without its inconveniences.
‘I'he schemers had apparently learnt that the chapaty was too specific and
too tangibly open to European interference to be largely availed of as an
agent for evil, and hence its transformation into flour, the bone-dust being
added to the one as the equivalent of the form of the ship biscuit to the
other. To give out, then, that such was the nature of the flour stored at
all the depots of supplies along the Grand Trunk Road, for from them,
during their marches, the Sipshis are in a manner compelled to get their
food, was to attain the very object the conspirators must have most
desired. If true, the Government had already commenced what would be
deemed forcible conversion to Christianity. 1f they could, then, but
establish a firm and general belief in this, their game was in their own
hands; and that they did succeed in doing this to a very great extent is,
1 imagine, undeniable. I must own that to me this apparently natural
transition from the chapaties to its component parts seems a master stroke
of cuoning, and evidenced most able leadership in the cause the con~
spirators were embarked in.

To prove, moreover, that no mean order of talent was at work, and that
all the appliances that craft and treachery could avail themselves of were
resorted to, we have only to refer to the extracts from the “ Authentic
News,” and also to the other native publications of that period, and we shall
perceive with what steadfast consistency the ulterior aim is always kept
in view. The chapaties, the bone-dust in the flour, the greased cartridges,
were all most appropriate for the Hindus; but a different pabulum was
requisite for the Musalméns, and we shall now see with what subtlety it
was administered. ‘T'he first paper commences by announcing that the
King of Persia had ordered a coucentration of most of his troops at
Teheran, and then, declaring it to be currently reported that such a demon-
stration against Dost Mubammad Khén was only a strategic move to cloak
the King of Persia’s real design of fighting against and conquering the
English, the editor makes certain that, at any rate, some change of feeling
has taken place amongst the three powers. The next extract is dated the
26th of January, 1857, and commences by asserting that all the news-
papers agree in declaring that the King of France and the Emperor of
‘Turkey bad not as yet openly avowed themselves the allies of either the
English or the Persians, but that their ambassadors were secretly visiting
and presenting their gifts to both belligerents. “Some people,” says the
editor, “ think that the King of France and the Emperor of Turkey will
not mix themselves up in the quarrels between the Persians and ‘the
English ; but most people,” he adds, “ say that they will both side with
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the Persians. As for the Russians, however, they make no secret of th:
readiness with which they are assisting, and will continue to assist, the
Persians, whether it be with funds or with forces. It may be said tha
virtually the Russians are the cause of the war, and that, using the Per
sians as a cloak, they intend to consummate their own designs regarding
the conquest of Hindustan. ‘It is to be believed that the Russians wil
soon take the field in great force.” Here, then, we have not only Persis
and Russia advancing immediately upon India with immense armies, bu
France and Turkey to assist them, while the forsaken and devotec
English are represented as by no means sure even of the alliance of the
Afghans under Dost Muhammad. Well might the editor, after announc
ing such formidable coalitions, somewhat dramatically exclaim, * Let the
readers of the ¢Authentic News’ be prepared to see what the veil o
futurity will disclose.” Accordingly, in the next extract, we perceive
that- * the King of Persia had solemnly promised to his courtiers the
governorships of the different presidencies and places: one is to get
Bombay, another Calcutta, and a third Pund, *while the crown of
Hindustan is plainly spoken of as reserved for bestowal on the King of
Dehli, this very prisoner before us. You will recollect, gentlemen, thaf
several copies of this paper, the “ Authentic News,” used to be sent te
the palace, and one can imagine the joy and exultation with which such
passages must have been perused, especially when added thereto is the
assertion that the Emperor of Russia had sent an effective and thoroughly
appointed army of 400,000 men with abundant munitions, to assist the
King of Persia in his hostile designs upon India. But it was not in the
palace, and by the princes alone, that such paragraphs were read with
avidity ; the whole population. was intent on them. S8ir Theophilus
Metcalfe has told us that the subject of the advance of the Persjans
upon - Herdt was much discussed among the natives, and frequently in
connexion with the idea of Russian aggression upon India, every news-
paper -having ‘at this time. its correspondent in Kabul. Nor indeed did
the discussion and interest excited by these concocted hostile movements
cease here, for the same witness declares that agitation about this time
provailed among the Sipihis and that about five or six weeks before the
outbreak it 'was eurrently veported in their lines, and much discussed
among them, that 100,000 Russians were coming from the north, and that
the Company’s government would be destroyed, and in fact that the idea
of a Russian invasion was uuiversally prevalent. The venom and virus
'of -these false publications were then taking their intended effect, and it
‘would seem a mere perversion of reason longer to blind ourselves with the
idea that the -outbreak was fortuitous, or that a greased ocartridge occa-
gioned it. In a& former article of the * Authentic News,” we have seen
‘Dost:- Muhammad alluded to as but a doubtful slly of the English. In
this one, however, as events progress, he is spoken of as being secretly
in league with the King of Persia, and, that superstitious aid may not be
lost sight of, it' is remarked how wonderfully four distinct unexpected
‘eoincidences had impelled the King of Persia to declar war sgainst the
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English. The first was that Her4t, in another place described as the key
of India, had so easily fallen iuto his possession; the second, the unfore-
seen coming of the Russians to assist him ; the third, the noblea of Persia
unanimously counselling an advance on India, and predicting that God
would bestow victory ; and the fourth, the simultaneous rising and as-
rembling of the whole of Persia for the prosecution of a religious war.
Portents and miracles were likewise brought forward still further to excite
the Muhammadan mind, as the following extract from the “Authentie
News,” dated 15th of September, 1856, will sufficiently prove. 1t is
beaded—
“ Local News from the Hénsi District.

“ A man just come from the country tells the editor that, unlike other
places, the Huli is being burnt there at this season of the year, and the
saturnalia attending the festival are now going on. The man who states
this ascertained, on inquiry, that the reason for the unseasonable otserv-
ance of this festival is, that three girls were born at a birth, and the
three spoke immniediately. The first said: ¢ The coming year will be one
of great calamities; various calamitous visitations will afilict the nation:?
the secoud said : ¢ Those who live will see;* and the third, in an impres-
sive and forcible tone, said : *1f the Hindus burn the Huli in the present’
season, they will escape all these evils. God alone is omniscient.””

It is too much, I am afraid, the case, with persons accustomed to Euro-
pean habite of thinking to view such statements and articles ag these
merely in reference to the impression they would be likely to make on
themselves. The taking of Herdt, the predictions of the nobles, &c., and
the fabulous prophecies of these girls would, in that case, receive hardly
passing attention. But we should commit a grievous and most fatal error
if we were to gauge Asiatic thoughts and nnderstandings by the same
measure that would be applicable to our own. If, avoiding this mistake,
we proceed to consider the above editorials in velation to the people they
were written for, we shall find that they are not only most insidiously
worked up to meet their peculiar prejudices, but are also made to bear a
striking affinity to the fulfilment of their prophecies; to the dreams of
Hasan Askari; to the negotiations of Sidi Kambar, and to the ancient
traditions of Mubammadanism.. Are we, then, to suppose that in all this
there was no connexion between the palace and the press? Were
all these concurrences fortuitous? Can it be that the dreams of the priests;
the plots of the court, and the fabrications of the newspapers worked
accidentally together? We have already seen the decoys by which the
Hindu Sipéhis were to be gained; and is it not the same epirit of evil
that we can recognise here ? Are the circumstances appealing to Muham-
madan E‘ride, to their superstitious bigotry, to their lust for religious war,
and to their hatred for the English, dwelt upon with a less perfect know-
ledge of their peculiar inherences? In an extract from the ¢ Authentic
News,’ dated the 19th of March, it is stated that 900 Persian soldiers,
with some officers of high rank, had entered Indis, and ‘that 500 more
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were then staying in Dehli itself in various disguises. Tt is true that this
is given out on the authority of one Sadik Khdn, a person whose identity
not being established, was evidently in disguise even to his name; but

is very circumstance was no doubt a part of the scheme, It gave an
air of greater mystery to the announcement of the paper, and seems to
have been purposely contrived to let the imagination of the readers supply
an exaggerated idea of his real rank and importance. How, it may be
asked, even under this cloak of a false name, could such a statement be
given forth in the leading newspaper of the city without some deep and
ulterior object ? 1t not only assigns deep conspiracy to the Persians, but,
if false, as we know it to have been, is proof of conspiracy in the editor
and those who employed him. This name of Sadik Kbin, be it remem-
bered, was the one attached to the proclamation purporting to be from
Persia, and put up in the Jammi Masjid. The proclamation, then,and the
assertion about these 900 Persian soldiers, were evidently parts of one and
the same scheme, and seem o have been thus linked together that the
one might, in a measure, support the other. If, for instance, any ques-
tioned the authority of the proclamation, there was the answer ready that
the bringer of it was actually in the city with 500 other Persians also in
disguise, and wice versd. 1f the advent of the Persians was disbelieved,
was not the proclamation a voucher for its reality ? 'The same depth of
artifice is apparent everywhere; and the more we consider the subject the
more fully convinced we shall be of the wiles and stratagems so system-
atically resorted to. For instance, what would such a proclamation as
that attributed to the King of Persia have been without some demonstra-
tion, feigned or real, to support it? The sword depicted on one side, and
the shield on the other, would have been equally meaningless but for the
story of the men in disguise, and the officers of high rank who evidently
must have been deputed to carry it through. The proclamation, so evi-
dently false, is, for that very reason, one of our truest and most reliable
expositors of conspiracy, and of Musalmén conspiracy too. It is, in fact,
impossible to account for it under any other hypothesis. Who, then, was
it that designed and wrote the proclamation? This question, I believe,
could be answered in every detail by the editor of the paper, who has
recurred to it so frequently. 1t is evidently a pet subject of his, one on
which he seems to be thoroughly at home. He has the exact transcript
of it, iz able to epitomise it, and no doubt was equally well informed as
to the preparation of it.

1 do not mean to wade through and to quote all the extracts from the
newspapers that bear out the fact of a Muhammadan conspiracy. That
appears to me unnecessary, for I believe I shall have no difficulty in esta-
blishing it by other testimony. However, there is one other extract, which-
it would ‘be wrong to leave unnoticed. 1t bears date the 13th of April,
and must have been the origin of the report that Sir Theophilus Met-~
calfe alludes to, when he says that, about fifteen days before the outbreak,
it was currently reported that an anonymous petition had been pre-
sented to. the magistrate, stating, “that the Kashmir gate would be
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taken from the English. This being the chief stronghold in the city and
main connexion with the cantonments of Dehli, it would naturally be the
first point seized in any attempt at insurrection in the city, and, being the
only gate at which there was any military guard, the importance of it, in
a strategical point of view, must have been obvious to all.” Sir Theo-
philue Metcalfe proceeds to say, “ that this petition was never received;
but that the current report about it was indicative of what was then occu~
pying the thoughts of many of the natives.” 8o, no doubt, it was; but
it was also much more than this, for it was the real exposition of an
article which the editor dare not, without disguising it, put into print.
With what ingenuity and craft the idea is worked out, so as to become
intelligible only to those who were meant to understand it, must now be
obvious to all. The editor says several petitions have been given into
the magistrate’s court, and in these it is also mentioned that “a month
hence from this date an overwhelming attack will be made on Kashmir,
of the salubrity and beauty of which a poet has said, ¢that should a
parched and burnt-up soul reach Kashmir, though he might be a roasted
fow], he would recover his wings and feathers, and that this cool and
heavenly country will come into the possession of the writers of the
petition.” How, it may be asked, were the writers of the petitions given
into the magistrate’s court at Dehli to take Kashmir, and who does not
now perceive that the Kashmir gate of the city of Dehli was thus
indicated by the country from which it derives its name, and. that the
salubrity and beauty of the former were to represent the importance, and
ita fitness for their objects, of the latter? I shall not here pause to con-
sider whether, under the simile of a parched and burnt-up fowl, the
prisoner before us was intended. He no doubt expected to recover some
of his. lost plumage by seizing the gate, and with it was meditating a
flight to a higher elevation. In declaring, on the 13th of April, that in
one month from that date, an overwhelming attack would be made on
this very point—for it was here the officers were shot down—the editor of
the * Authentic News” was either the confidant and accomplice of con-
gpiracy, or had soared into the regions of actual prophecy.

The coincidence of the above cautiously worded announcement of the
editor, and the indiscreet revelations of Jawan Bakht, are certainly start-
ling. The doubly foretold attack took place on the 11th of May, and, after
what has been proved in regard to Muhammadan treachery, is there any
one who hears me that can believe that a deep-planned and well-concerted
conspiracy had nothing to do with it?

The proofs of the intimate conuexion of the prisoner with it do not,
however, rest here, for Mujud, the Abyssinian, who was not merely in the
service.of the king, but was his private special attendant, and was always
near his person, takes Mr. Everett aside and tells him that he had better
Jeave the Company’s service, and, with his troop, @o over to the king, as
this hot weather the Russians would be all over the place, Mr. Everett
seems to have Jaughed at this, and to have thonght it but the man’s
foolishness; but we have now direct proof that it was something far
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deeper than that: forat their pext meeting, which ecvurred about a month
after the cutbreak had been accomplished, Mujud says o him, “Did 1
nut t2ll you to come away 27 And then, as it were in expianation of the
warning, procends to reveal to him the whole of the Sidi Kambar trans-
action: bow, two years before, be hal been sent to Constantinople as
ambassador from the King of Dehli; how he had started oa the preteace
of zoing to Mekka, and how he had promised that he would retura when
the two years had expired. This explanation seems to be a very remark-
able one. It shows clearly that it was not merely on the basis of an
expected disturbance at Mirath that such a peoposal was made, bat that
a tar wider web of sadition was weavinz. Whe can pow believe-that none
of the Mubammadan native officers and men of the reziments at Dehii
and Mirath had been tampered with? Mr. Everett, as s Christian, was
surely one of the last the conspirahws would apely oo It should be
remembered likewise, that Mr. Everett had nobe of hts regiment with him
at Dehli, and that, bad there been any Musalmin oifivers of the corps
present, they wouid doubiiess have been w a Christian. At the
time too when the application was @ to him the sentemce of the
Mirath court-martial must have beem unknown in Debli It was mx,
then, a5 & consequence of, bt as an addition amd an adjenct to, what was
anticipated at Mirath, that preparation was beinz made bere; and by
whom was this being done? Could a mere private servant and personal
attendant, bowever great and favvurite be might be, offer servwe o a
risakdar and a whole trvop of cavalry, withdrawing their allermnce from
the Government, without any authurity for so Joing froey his master ?
Who could bave yiven the king's service to so large a budy bat the king
himself 2 I would beg those who hear me, serivusly o consider these
qQuestions, and then determine whether the answers to them Jdo not brinz
home persoval complicity in compassinz the rebetltiom, to the prisoner in
Gourt.  We have been infwmed, ton, by Mukund Lil, the secretary, that
it is pow about: three years since some inbntre sohliers stativenl at
Delili beeamse disciples of the king, and that, on that cceasion, the kinx
gave each of them a document detaiiing the names and erdes of those wha
had him in the direct line of discipies to each other, himsell
incl together with a napkin dyed pink as an emblem of bis biessine.
Now, three years ago from the present date is about the time of Sidi
Kambar's embassy to Persia, and of the apparent first commeacement of
Mubammaian conspiracy ; and it certainly s a somewhas instractive fact
to find that the cveasiva chesen for such an uawonted manifestation of
Piety ca the coe hand, apd such am unuscal display of kingly comicecen-
sion on the other, was precisely that ia which intimae relativas between
them of a more pulitical character were beginning to be thought of  The
Agent of the Licutezant-Governor, of course, pat a stop to these exhibitions ;
but from that day, adds the wimess, it may be sand that a sort of umder~

ing was established between the army and the king. [ think it wil be
cone thas in sdditiom to the charges five facts have boen established,
viz,, the concerted dreams and predictions of Hasan Askari, the priest 3
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=- the mission to Persia and Constantinople of Sidi Kambar, the Abyssinian ;
a deliberate continuous plan of exciting distrust and revolt among the
Hindus; a similar plan, by the fabrications of the native press, for incit-
ing the Musalmdns to a religious war; and lastly, by these means and
others, an indirect, and also a personal, tampering with the fidelity of the
Hindus and Musalméns of the native army, Has or has not a guilty
participation in all these five points been traced to the prisoner ? If the
question (as I believe it will be) should be answered in the affirmative,
there will still remain another to be responded to, of perhaps still greater
importance, viz., Has he in these transactions been the leader, or the led ?
has he been the original mover, the head and front of the undertaking, or
has he been but the consenting tool, the willing instrument in the hands
of others; the forward, unscrupulous, but still pliant puppet, tutored by
priestly craft for the advancement of religious bigotry ? Many persons, I
believe, will incline to the latter. The known restless spirit of Mubammadan
fanaticism has been the first aggressor, the vindictive intolerance of that
peculiar faith has been struggling for mastery, seditious conspiracy has
been its means, the prisoner its active accomplice, and every possible
crime the frightful result. It was, however, rather as the head of the
Muhammadan religion in India than as the descendant of a line of kings
that I believe the prisoner’s ivfluences were desired ; the one indeed is so
inseparable from the other that it is difficult to say where the difference
eommences, ' It was the union of the two, the religious and the political,
that gave such importance to the prisoner as one of the abettors of

conspiracy. : L

I"lggus the bitter zeal of Muhammadanism meets us everywhere. It is
conspicuous in the papers, flagrant in the petitions, and perfectly demoniac
in its-actions. There seems, indeed, scarce any exemption from its conta~
gious-touch. The Prince Mirz4 Abdulla, robbing }Ijxis confiding visitor
and ‘former friend, and then sending his uncle to compass her death,
seemd - no exaggerated instance of it.” It s again represented by the
Mobammadan officer Mirza Taki Beg, at Pashdwar, who, while in high
employment and pay by the British Government, complacently quotes from
his books that.a change will take place, and that the British rule will
soon be overthrown. It finds a still more unmistakable disciple in Karim
Baksh, of the Dehli Magazine, who, while drawing English pay, avails
himself of his scholarship and knowledge of Persian to send circulars to
the native regiments to the effect ibat the cartridges preparved in the
magazine had been smeared with a composition of fat,and that the Sipéhis
were not to believe their European officers if they said anything in con-
tradiction of it. It will be.recollected how active in his enmity this man
proved when the king's troops were attacking the magazine; how he kept
up-a-secret’ communication with them, and how completely he identified
mself, from the commencement, with the eonspirators. - Can there bea
doubt that he was one of those who had. been successfully tampered with ;
that; while ostensibly serving the English, he was, in reality, in- the pay
and confidence of those seeking their destruction ? T
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But why multiply instances of this sort? I would gladly cite some of
a different tendency, and the petition of Muhammad Darwesh, in his ad-
mirable letter to Mr. Colvin, must not be passed over. It is one noble
instance of faithfulness from 8 Muhammadan to the British. I am sorry I
cannot class with it the petition purporting to be from Nabi Baksh Khan
to the king, pronouncing it. unlawful to slay women, and calling for a
decree to that effect from the doctors of the Muhammadan religion ; for since
I delivered the paper into Court considerable doubt bas been thrown on
its baving been written at the time indicated, and it seems by no means
improbable that it was fabricated after the capture of Dehli, for the pur-
pose of obtaining rewards and other advantages. Indeed, a further atten-
tive perusal of it has convinced me that it is so; for no one in the.
situation of Nabi Baksh Khén would have dared to advise or propose to
the king to let the soldiery first wreak their rage on his own royal person,
as Nabi Baksh Khén pretends to have done. There are certainly a few
instances in which the Mubammadans have behaved with kindness to the
English, and not the less pleasing on account of the humbie grades in
which these instances occur. We may, perhaps, deduce from this, that
the teachings such as are prescribed by their prophet have no softening
effects on the hearts of his followers; nay, more, that education in such
doctrines leads to ferocity and revolting crime, and is utterly incompatible
with feelings of even ordinary humanity.

In the course of this address I have dwelt, long and frequently, upon
those circumstances which appear to demonstrate that to Musalmén in-
trigue and Muhammadan conspiracy we may attribute the dreadful calami-
ties of the year 1857. I have endeavoured to point out how intimately
the prisoner, as the head of the Muhammadan faith in India, has been
connected with the organisation of that conspiracy, either as its leader or
its unscrupulous accomplice. I have alluded to the part taken by the
native press and Muhammadans, in general, as preparing the Hindus for
insurrection, and the native army, in particular, for revolt; and perhaps,
in further corroboration of such facts, it may be as well to advert to the
share that may be assigned to the Muhammadaus in getting the cartridges
refused on the parade ground of the 3rd Light Cavalry. Out of these
85 troopers thefar larger moiety was Muhammadan. These men had no caste,
and to them it could not possibly have mattered whether pig’s and cow’s
fat was smeared on the cartridges or not. Captain Martineau tells us that
at the Ambélah depot, as far as the cartridge question was concerned, the
Muhammadan Sipihis laughed at it, and we thus perceive that these men
initiated open mutiny without one pretext for so doing, or the shadow of
an excuse. They had not even the extenuation of a pretended grievance ;
yet they at once leagued themselves in rebellion against us, and induced
the Hindus to join them, by'speciously exciting them on that most vul-
nerable of points, the fear of being forcibly deprived of their caste. I
say, induced the Hindus to join them, for such is the evidence before us,
and this. too on a pretext in which the Muhamunadans could have had no
possible sympathy with them. Nor indeed were the Hindus long in dis-
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covering this, for as a witness, who has been frequently quoted, informs -
us, * immediately after the battle of the Hindan they spoke with much
regret of the turn that affairs had taken, reproached the Mubammadans
for having deceived them, and seemed to doubt greatly that the English
Government bad really had any intention of interfering with their caste.
Great numbers of the Hindu Sipahis at this time declared that, if they
could be sure their lives would be spared, they would gladly go back to
the service of the Government; but the Muhammadans, on the contrary,
used to assert that the king’s service was much better than that of the
English ; that the nawabs and rajahs would supply the king with large
forces, and that they must eventually conquer.” If we now take a re-
trospective view of the various circumstances which we bave been able
to elicit during our extended inquiries, we shall perceive how exclusively
Muhammadanare all the prominent points that attach toit. A Muhammadar
priest, with pretended visions and assumed miraculous powers— a Muham-
madan King his dupe and his accomplice—a Muhammadan clandestine
embassy to the Muhammadan powers of Persia and Turkey resulting—
Muhammadan prophecies as to the downfall of our power—Muhammadan
rule as the successor of our own—the most cold-blooded murders by Muham-
madan asgassins—a religious war for Muhammadan ascendancy—a Mubam-
madan press unscrupulously abetting—and Muhammadan Sipéhis initiating
the mutiny. Hinduism, I may say, is nowhere either reflected or represented ;
if it be brought forward at all, it is only in subservience to its ever-aggres-
sive neighbour, )

The arguments in reference to 8 Muhammadan-conspiracy aré now closed.
I do not mean that many others: might not be deduced from the pro-
ceedings before us, for I have selected only those that appeared to me the
most prominent, I would wish, however, before sitting down, to quote
obe question and answer from Captain Martineau’s evidence: “ Did you
ever hear any of the Sipshis speak complainingly of the efforts of English
missionaries to convert natives to Christianity ?” Answer.—* No, never
in my life, I don’t think tbey cared one bit about it.” I believe there is
no officer whose duties have given him much experience of the Sipshi
character or any insight into his feelings and prejudices but will readily
confirm the correctness of this opinion. There is no dread of an open
avowed missionary in India. It is not the rightful conversion to Chris-
tianity that either Sipahis or natives are alarmed at. If it be done by the
efforts of persuasion, of teaching, or of example—the only  means by
which it can be done—it offends no caste prejudice, excites no fanatical
opposition. A candid, undisguised endeavour to gain followers to Christ
has never, that I am aware of, been viewed with the slightest sign of
disapprobation by any portion of the natives, and, were it more constantly
before their eyes, who can doubt that it would remove this present dark
and debasing error that Christianity is itself a caste, and its only distin-
guishing tenet the privilege of eating everything? 1f this degrading idea
were removed, the chief fear of the Hindus would vanish with it. Let
them see that it is impossible to make converts to Christianity by force,
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and you deprive the seditious of their most potent weapon of mischief,
Christianity, when seen in its own, pure light, has no terrors for the natives.
It is only when kept in the shade that its name can be perverted to an
instrument of evil. But I may, if I proceed further, be trenching on
questions of State policy. I beg, then, to tender my thanks to the Court
for the patient hearing they have given me, and to Mr. Murphy, the
interpreter, for' the able assistance he has, in that capacity, afforded me on
this and the other State trials. His very high attainments as an Oriental
scholar have been most conspicuous. In the fluency of vivd voce examin-
ations; in the quick readiness with which all kinds of papers, in different
hands, have been deciphered and read ; and in the correctness and spirit
of the written translations of documents of no ordinary difficulty his com-
plete knowledge both of Urdu and Persian has been thoroughly attested.
The notes appended to many of these papers are valuable in themselves,
-and speak more forcibly than I can do of Mr. Murphy’s very high profi-
ciency as an interpreter. I should be wanting, both to him and myself|
if I did not thus record my obligations to him.

Fixping.—The Court, on the evidence before them, are of opinion that
the prisoner Muhammad Bahddur Shéb, ex-King of Dehli, is guilty of all
and every part of the charges preferred against him.

M. Dawes, Lieut.-Colonel, President.

Dehli, 9th March, 1858. F. J. HarrioTT, Major,
Deputy Judge Advocate-General,

Approved and confirmed.

N. PexNY, Major-General,

Commanding Meerut Division.
Camp Sahdran, 2nd April, 1858.

COPY of a LETTER of the CHIEF CoMmissioNER of the PANsAB FoRr-
WARDING to the GOVERNOR-GENERAL of INDIA the PROCEEDINGS on
the Tr1aL of the King of DenLi.

From R. TemrLE, Esq., Secretary to Chief Commissioner of the Panjdb to
G. F. EpmoxsToNE, Esq., Secretary to Government of India with the
Governor-General.

Léhor, 29 April, 1858.

S1r,—I am now directed to forward for submission to the Right Honourable

the Governor-General, the proceedings® and papers in the trial of

* Bee Parliamentary Paper, No. 162 of Session 1859.
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Muhammad Bab4dur Shab, ex-King of Dehli. As a supplement to the
above, I am also to transmit translation of evidence of Ahsun ulla
Kh4n, late confidential .physician of the ex-King, taken before the
Secretary to the Chief Commissioner. It will be in the recollection of his
Lordship that the physician’s life was guaranteed on the condition of his
answering satisfactorily such questions as might be put to him.

2. The trial was commenced on the 27th January, 1858, and was
concluded on the 9th of March, 1858. The proceedings are very voluminous,
and have only recently been received from the General commanding
Mirath division. The evidence relates not only to the specific charges on
which the prisoner was arraigned, but also to the origin and character of
the outbreak ; and it lays bare the policy of the king’s government and
the internal economy of the rebel army during the siege of Dehli. On the
whole, it is deeply interesting and instructive, whether viewed practically,
politically, or historically. :

3. In brief terms, it may be said that the documentary evidence com-
prises the system in which the general government was condncted ; the
raising of loans; military arrangements; the communication with foreign
powers and neighbouring chiefs; the passages in the native newspapers
relating to the war between the English and the Persiaus. There are also,
of course, many papers of a miscellaneous character. The oral evidence
describes the occurrences of the outbreak, and the sad circumstances
connected with the massacre of the Christians in the palace; it also throws
some licht on the origin of the mutiny and the rebellion. The general
effect of the evidence, documentary and oral, is to present to the mind a
wonderfully vivid picture of all that happened at Dehli during the eventful
months between the 12th May and 20th September, 1857. -

4. The papers referring to the system of the king’s government exhibit
in & remarkable manner the active personal share which the king himself
took in the conduct of affairs. However wrongly he had -assumed his
position, it must be admitted that his orders were not unworthy of the
situation. He did make some effort to preserve order in the city, to
repress rapine and murder in the villages, to check malversation, to restrain
the excesses of the soldiery; but it is clear, from first to last, he was
unable to establish an administration cither within or without the city.
Tn the tracts pominally ruled by the king there was scarcely the semblance
of authority; nor was there any protection for life or property. In but
few cases did the king’s agents succeed in collecting revenue from the
districts. From its own records, the Mughul rule, while it lasted, seems to
have been a reign of terror, and a period of intolerable anarchy to the
people. Then the papers show the financial straits to which the king was
driven, and the numerous forced loans and other contributions exacted
from the moneyed classes in Dehli. The military papers do not materially
elucidate the plan of the operations, but they show that the mutinous army
‘was utterly insubordinate to the government it had set up, and that its
discipline was entirely relaxed. The papers comprising the correspondence
with other powers indicate the deputations despatched by the King of
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Debli to the Shih of Persia; but they do not show an actual connexion
between these intrigues and the Bengal mutinies. Whether, in the
absence of any proof, there is reason to infer such connexion will be con-
sidered presently. The correspondence with Indian chiefs proves that the
chiefs round. Delhi were in subjection to the king; but there is nothing to
show that any considerable number of princes gave in their adhesion, nor
that any sovereign or powerful prince intrigued with the king. The
extracts from the native mewspapers at Dehli certainly breathe a hostile
spirit to the British, and abound with absurd stories of the successes of
1:]:‘?1 Persians in the war then waging, and their probable advance upon
India. :

5. The oral evidence goes far to show, that while the troops at Dehli
were prepared for the outbreak, and the palace retainers were in some
measure ready. for mischief, yet the king himself and his counsellors had
not contemplated taking the lead in so serious a movement. Consequently,
when the mutineers first arrived, the king’s conduct was most vacillating.
He asked them why they had come to him, for he had no means of
maintaining them. They replied that, unless he joined them, they could
not make head against the English. He immediately yielded, however ;
and by his subsequent behaviour he identified himself with the cause of
the rebels, and made their acts his own. As regards the massacre of forty-
nine Christians within the palace walls, it is probable that the king
himself was not a prime mover in that dreadful deed, and that, if left to
his own devices, he would not have had the prisoners murdered. There is
little doubt that he could have saved them had he been so minded. Itis
quite certain that he made no effort to do so, and, from his own subsequent
letters, it is clear that he was a consenting party to the murder.

6. Upon all this evidence, the Court have found the prisoner guilty of
four charges, which may be thus epitomised : :

1st. Aiding and abetting the mutinies of the troops.

2nd. Encouraging and assisting divers persons to wage war against the

British Government.

3rd. Assuming the sovereignty of Hindustan,

4th. Causing and being accessory to the murder of the Christians,
_ Concurring in the justice of the verdict, and cousidering the prisoner to
have been guilty of these grave felonies, the Chief Commissioner has to
recommend, that the said prisoner shall be dealt with as a felon, regard
only being had to the guarantee of his life, which was granted to him a$
the time of his capture, .And the Chief Commissioner has arrived at the -
deliberate opinion of the prisoner’s guilt, after having carefully examined
the evidence adduced at the trial, and after having tested it by all the
information which he has obtained since the commencement of the
outbreak, and by his personal knowledge of the character both of the
prisoner and of the Muhammadan population of Dehli.

7. After the above brief analysis of the proceedings in this most re-
markable trial, I am now to submit the Chief Commissioner’s opinions on
the real causes and origin of the mutiny and rebellion., A right under-
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standing of this matter is of the last importance to the future stability
of the empire." -~ i - ° T e
- 8. In the first place, it is to be observed that the prisoner was: not
charged with aoy offence previous to the:11th May, 1857, - “Whatever may
have been the king’s participation in the events subsequent to that date,
‘niothing has transpired on’ the trisl; or<on'any othér ‘occasion, to show that
he was engaged in-a previous conspiracy to excite a mutiny in the Bengal
army. - Indeed, it is Sir John Lawrence’s very decided impression that
this mutiny had its origin in the army itself; that it is not attributable to
any external orany antecedent conspira¢y whatever, although it-was after-
wards taken advantage of by disaffected persons to compass ‘their: own
ends; and that its proximate cause was the cartridge affair, and nothing
else,  Sir John Lawrence has examined many hundreds of letters on this
subject from natives, both -soldiers and civilians. - He has, moreover,
conversed constantly on the matter with natives of all classes, and he is
satisfied that the general, and indeed alinost the universal, opinion in this
part of India is to the above effect. : ' -

9. It 'may be true that discontented Sipdhis worked upon the minds of
their less guileless comrades, and persuaded them that a ‘sinister but
systematic attempt was about to be made on their ceremonial religion:; and
that in many regiments the majority was misled by designing individuals.
But, as abody, the native army did really believe that the' universal
introduction of cartridges destructive of their caste was a matter only of
time, They heard (and believed as they heard) that the measure had
been resolved on, and that some Sipshis had been punished even by death
for refusing to use the objectionable cartridges. They thought, therefore,
that their only chancoe of escape was to band together, to refuse the
cartridges, and to resist if force should be attempted by the Government ;
and the incendiary fires &t the different stations were intended by the
Sipihis as a8 warning to their officers and to their Government of the
feelings which had taken possession of the native army. ' Such truly was
the origin of the mutiny ; and this, T am to repeat, is the one circumstance
which has forced itself upon the Chief Commissioner’s conviction in all
that he hag seen and heard. This is the one fact which stands out
prominently in all the native letters which he has examined, in all the
statements of the natives whom he has cross-questioned, and in all the
conversations between the natives themselves:which have been reported by
our spies in Dehli and elsewhere, '

*10. As against the above conclusion, it might perhaps be urged that
the mutiny first broke out at Mirath, where the new cartridges had never
been used; and it is no doubt true that the men of the 8rd Light Cavalry
bad never been asked to use the new cartridges, and were imprisoned for
refusing cartridges of the old description, and perfectly unobjectionable.
But the Chief Commissioner has always understood that the cartridges
which these men did refuse happened to be enveloped in paper of a colour
different from that generally used before, and he believes that this une
fortunate circumstance would account for the bitter mistrust which was
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excited in their ‘minds. Indeed, a similar circumstance ‘produced the
same effect upon the 19th Native Infantry and other regiments in
Bengal. - Any person’ conversant with .native character can understand
how easily such a thing might be misinterpreted by men whose imagina-
tion and feelings had been wrought up to the belief that an attempt was
in contemplation to injure them in so vital a point as that of caste and
religion, Again, it has been said that the Sipéhis after the mutiny fired
‘off some of thess impure cartridges against our loyal troops during the
siege of Debli; but it is very doubtful whether this really took place. If
it did, however, still the men might have escaped the fancied pollution
by the refraining from biting the cartridges, or they might have had the
cartridges remade in & manner which would obviate the supposed im-
purity ; or the cartridges might have been used only when the mutineers
were becoming desperate, as their final defeat drew near. On the whole,
the Chief Commissioner considers that neither of the above arguments is
at all sufficient to weaken a conclusion so strong upon other grounds.

11. As an instance of the evidence which might be produced in favour
of the above conclusions, I am to mention an important and interesting
conversation which the Chief Commissioner and Brigadier General
Chamberlain recently held at Ambilah with a jimadar of the 3rd Panjib
Native Infantry. This man, a Bhajpuria Rajput by caste, and a pative
of Hindustan, was at Ghazipur on furlough when the mutiny broke out;
he and his two brothers joined an English indigo planter, and during seven
months were of great use to that gentleman on several occasions of
difficulty and disturbance. He was on his way thence to rejoin his
regiment in the Panjib when he met the Chief Commissioner’s camp at
Ambiélah. - Though holding a certificate of his good conduct and services
at Ghézipur, he still, even at Ambilah, seemed doubtful of the reception
he would meet with, He was reserved at first, and it was only during a
lengthened examination that he by degrees described what he had heard
and seen. In this conversation he affirmed that there was a general belief
among the Hindustfni Sipshis that the destruction of their caste and
religion had been finally resolved on by the English. “So strong was
this belief,” he said, “that when I talked with the relations and friends of
Sipahis, and endeavoured to combat their views, I ended in almost
believing that they were right. Then, again, when I talk to you and hear
what you say, I see how foolish such ideas were.” He added that the
English officers little knew how strong this impression had become in the
‘native army ; that more than five years ago the belief had existed, and
had nearly brought on an émeufe; that the caravansarais for travellers and
the supply depots (sardis and bard4shtkhénas) erected by Government on
_the Gmng Trunk Road were said to be devised with the object of de~
-stroying castes, and that before long impure kinds of food would be
prepared in them which the people would be forced to buy and eat.

12, Such was the prevalent belief in the native army before the
outbreak, The first excitement, according to the Chief Commissioner’s
belief, the first feeling of disaffection, arose among the high caste Hindus,

P



APPENDIX C. B34

Brahmans, and Rajputs of both the infantry and the cavalry; this
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to fanaticism and ferocity being especially inculcated
tenets of their religion.
13. But stories against the British were fabricated and circo-

difficult to discover as much from them, to their ext

reticence on matters which they fear to reveal. It is only by attentive
obeervation, by study of their character eonduct, and by the
ool}aﬁng_o(thcirusu_alnmnh,thutheinml iniona and on



356 APPENDIX C.

couraged them to revolt. They ‘were, as they. themselves said in their

own phrase, the right arm, the hands and feet of the British Government.

Their strength consisted in their great-numbers; in their unexampled

power of combination from -their being one vast brotherhood, with

common fatherland, language, religion, caste, and associations; and their

possession - of most of our magazines, many of our forts, and all our
treasuries, while our weakness consisted in the paucity of European troops.

Moreover, while the native regiments were kept up to their full strength,
while our already overgrown native army was being gradually increased, it
so- happened that we had not been g0 weak for many: years past. in

European troops -as we were in 1857, Some regiments had been sub-
tracted - from our complement during the Russian war; two regiments
were in Persia.. Those regiments we had were numerically weak ; some
corps had not received any fresh draughts for two years, ‘These and all the

other weak points of our system were patent to a native army, having

many intelligent men in its ranks, employed promiscuously from Calcutta

to Peshdwar, and consequently well acquainted with our military arrange-

ments. In short, it was a sense of overwhelming power acting upon men

exasperated by a fancied wrong that led the Bengal army to mutiny. In-
the face of this grand motive cause for the mutiny existing in the army,

why need we look abroad for foreign causes?.: - .

14, The real causes of the outbreak having been discussed, I am now to
advert: to- certain -circumstanees ‘which: are sometimes said to be causes,
but which in the Chief Commissioner’s judgment were probably not so.

15. In the first place, with -reference to' conspiracies, which have been
so frequently adduced as proximate causes of the outbreak, I am to state
that, in 'the ‘Chief Commissioner’s belief, there was not any conspiracy in
the army, irrespective of the cartridge affair, and. no really organised
conspiracy even in respect to that, - The Sipshis had corresponded in order
to unite in refusing the cartridges; .they had probably engaged to stand
by one another in resistance to the:-suppesed.oppression; and being a
fraternity- with hopes, fears, prejudices, feelings, all: in'common, they all
felt that such an engagement would . be:acted-up to. by the whole body.
No doubt the ocourse: of affairs: at Mirath precipitated the-outbreak, and
it is -vain to-speculate -as- to what: eould- have been designed if that
outbreak had been postponed: - But it seems certain that no regular rising
had up to that time been planned. - A mass of Sipéhi correspondence has
been inspected, the commeon ‘talk of the mutineers.in Dehli has' been
reported, the records of the palace have been ransacked, and yet no trace
of any ‘such detailed plan has been .found.. ‘o show how little -the
course to be followed had been pre-arranged at the time of the Mirath.
outbreak, one or, two significant circumstances, may be cited. : The well-
known moonshee, Mohan Lal; who was at Dehli, stated that some men of
the 3rd Light Cavalry told him that when the regiment broke cut at
Mirath they had scarcely left the cantonments when they held- a- council
of war as to what should be done next. - The general voice at first was for
taking refuge in Rohilkhand, but one of the men pointed out that Dehli
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was the proper place to. make for,  There, he said, were the. magazine and
the treasury; there the strong fortifications ; there a large city population ;:
there the king for a fitting instrument ; -and there, above all, an important
point without European troops.. ‘This account of what took place on that:
occasion was corroborated by minute and extensive. inquiries made by:
Brigadier-General Chamberlain after the fall of Dehli. Again, it is ascer-
tained from Mr. Ford, Magistrate of Gurgdon, that a large party of the
3rd Cavalry troopers actually fled through Dehli onward to the.Gurgion:
district on the very next day after the outbreak, and. that 10 men of this.
party and 20 of the horses were seized by the magistrate.. ‘At ‘the same
time there is no doubt that the troops at Dehli were prepared for the:
oocurrence of an outbreak at Mirath, and were fully resolved to stand by
their comrades, ; S -
16. It was when the native army at large saw the immense success of:
the Mirath and Dehli mutineers, and the disasters of the British in- the
first instance, that they resolved to convert what had been a combination
against supposed oppression into a struggle for empire and for a general
military £)minat.ion. The. Sipdhis had the command of all the public
treasuries; no attempt was made fo secure the treasure at out-stations;
the temptation to plunder was too great for the virtue even of our best-
disposed regiments; each corps acquired great wealth as it mutinied ; as
regiment after regiment fell away the power of resistance on the part.of.
the Government lessened ; in short; so manifold were the inducements, so
certain the spread of infection, so powerful the effect of example, that no.
man acquainted with India could fail.to. see that such a mutiny and
rebellion, unless trampled out at once, unless quenched in the blood of the
soldiers who first revolted, must extend everywhere like wild-fire. -
17. Next I am to state that Sir John Lawrence does. not believe that
there was any previous conspiracy, Muhammadan or other, extending first
through the influential classes in the country,and then to the native army..
If there were such a thing, how comes it that no trace bas been -discovered
in this part of India, the very quarter where any such conspiracy must.
have been hatched? How can it reasonably be explained, why none of
those who have adhered to our cause were acquainted with such' a con-.
spiracy? The number of those who were. with ua in Hindustan' may
have been small, as conpared with. the aumber of those who were against
us; but still the number.of our adherents was considerable. Of these,
many remained true io us under all. trials; others again’ died fighting on
our side, yet not ong of. these has ever been able to speak .of any general
eonsl;:'imcy previous to the -outbreak. .Again, none of the mutineers and
rebels who paid for their guilt the forfeit of their lives ever confessed in
their last moments & knowledge of any such conspiracy, though:they
knew that any revelations on this subject would have saved them from.
death. Again, many papers of various kinds have come to hand, revealing:
important secrets, implicating many persons, jeopardising many lives, yet:
in all these there has been no allusion to. such a conspiracy.  In all his
inquiries the Chief Commissioner has never heard a word from & native
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mouth, nor seen anything in any native document, that could convey even
the impression that any general plot had existed. °

18. Furthermore, the Chief Commissioner considers that the conduct of
the people generally negatives the supposition of a general conspiracy. If
the people had conspired with the army, why was not the first outbreak
immediately followed by a general insurrection? If there was concert and
premeditation, then, why did not the population obey the first signals of
revolt, such remarkable and encouraging signals as they were? Why did
not all Hindustan rebel directly that Dehli had fallen to the mutineers,
when the English there had been massacred, when the troops had raised
the bad characters of the city, and with their aid had seized the treasure,
magazines, and fortifications ; when the king’s sons, courtiers, and re-
tainers had joined, and when the king himself had consented to head the
movement? Why had not the population everywhere taken advantage
immediately of our weakness? Qur power in a large portion of Hindostan was
temporarily paralysed. Our means were small; and those means we had
were so placed as not to be capable of being at once brought to bear
azainst the insurgents. And the Mirath force did nothing. The fact is,
that at first our enemies were not prepared to profit by such unforeseen and
tremendous events. It was not till afterwards that the Muhammadans of
Hindustan perceived that the re-establishment of the throne of Dehli,
the gradual rising of the Muhammadan population, and the losses of the
British at so many stations, presented an opportunity when they might
again strike for empire with some prospect of success. The fact that
afterwards in many districts the people threw off or ignored our authority,
aud that many individuals, and some classes openly rose against us, wiil
by no means prove a preconcerted conspiracy, but, on the contrary, will
admit of much explanation. In no case did popular tumult precede the
niilitary outbreak; but, invariably where it occurred at all, it ensted upon
a mutiny, like -cause following effect. The population generally were
passive at first. Then, as it appeared that the British were being swept
off the face of the land, every village began to follow its own course. In
most districts there was, of course, more or less misconduct. Bat through
the whole time the people, even in the worst districts, never. embarrassed
us half as much as they would have done had they been rebels at heart.
Large masses of people were coerced by the rautineers into insurrection, if
jnsurrection it eouln{’ be called ; where, again, the mutineers were beaten
and expelled, the country rapidly settled down to peace and order.
Wherever our officers were able to hold their own, the people remained
wholly or pertially tranquil; when British rule ceased, utter disorder
necessarily followed. And certainly the common belief in Hindustan was
that the British dominion had been extinguished. Furthermore, it is to
be remembered that in India, as indeed in almost every other country,
there exists a discontented class ready for any change, in the hope of its
improving their condition, Moreover, in India especially, there are tribes
by nature predatory, who before our rule subsisted on plunder and rapine.
These were subdued more than half a century ago by our arms and our.
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Policy. But the characteristics of those people survive in their descendants.
The existing generation cling to the predatory traditions of thejr fore-
fathers, They long for & return of the days of misrule—the good old
times, when those might take who had the power, and those. might keep
who could. Most of them had indeed never seen a shot fired, and, living
under the shadow of a strong Government, had become unwarlike. But,
when our power became eclipsed and our prestige dimmed, the old instinct,
the innate love of plunder revived, and the strong began to prey wupon the
weak., Then, again, a considerable section of the people, and especially
the Muhammadans, are fanatical. This fanaticism, loosed from the bands of
half a century, became a powerful engine against us. Whatever may be
the intrinsie merits of our rule, the people of India can never forget that
we are an alien race, in respect of colour, religion, habits, sympathies ;
while we, on the other hand, practically forgetting this, and wrapping
ourselves up in our pride, self-reliance, and feeling of superiority, neglect
the most ordinary precautions for our own security, and throw off even
the elightest restraints on our freedom of action, though our very safety
may depend upon such g;:cautions. :

19, The preceding observations convey, in the Chief Commissioner’s
judgment, a fair idea of the condition of the people after the outbreak in
the Dehli territory, the Dudb, of the Ganges and the Jamnah, and
Rohilkhand. In Oudh, however, the case was different ; there the popu-
lation had been long inured to danger and warfare; their martial pride had
been fostered by constant success in resistance to their own rulers, and by
the vast numbers employed in foreign military service under the British.
They had always lived free from civil restraint, and they had never felt
the weight of our military power. After the province was annexed, we
had not at all a strong military position. 'We were virtually attempting
to hold the province by troops drawn from itself; we had but one
European regiment, and some European artillery, while we had upwards
of 11,000 indigenous troops, and while we had no European: troops ready
at hand in adjacent provinces. Yet, notwithstanding all this, we did,
while acting with the best intentions, carry out some measures which had
the effect of irritating various influential classes.. As a counterpoise to~
such disaffection, we might have produced contentment and loyalty among
other classes; but our tenure of dominion had been too short to effect this
when the outbreak burst upon us. When the influential classes, whom
our policy had provoked, found that the native army were ripe for revolt,
they added fuel to a rising fire; and, when the erisis arrived, mutiny was
immediately followed by insurrection. Had we been able at once to march
European or other reliable troops into Oudh in sufficient numbers, we might
even then have beaten down opposition. But this we could not do; and
many months passed away. During that interval our enemies consolidated
their power, and even those most friendly. to our rule were, from. sheer

-necessity, driven to swell the ranks of our opponents, -

20, 1t may be that the Supreme Government have received information

from other parts of India; but the foregoing conclusions regarding the



360 .APPENDIX €.

absence of any conspiracy, and the ‘general conduct of the people, are
based upon Sir John Lawrence’s ‘knowledge and experience of the
countries from the Jamnah to theborders of Afghanistan, a tract of full
100,000 square miles; with a population of 30,000,000, and comprising the
very cenire and focus of rebellion; the place of all others where such a
.conspiracy; if it had existed at all, would have been most likely to.be
discovered. o ’ ’ :

.21 It will be seen :that in the Deputy Judge Advocate General’s
summing up at the trial much stress is laid on the overtures made by.the
.king to the Shah of Persia ; but, ag already remarked, nothing was elicited
at the trial to show that these referred to a revolt either of the Bengal
army or the people of Hindustan. The physician Ahsan Ullah declares,

.that these .communications were indeed treasonable; that the king was
dissatisfied chiefly because he was not allowed to set aside his eldest
son in the succession to the title; and that he had an idea of obtaining
help from. Persia- and from Oudh, to which latter Court also he des-
patched an emissary; but the physician adds, that although the subversion
of the British Government was mentioned in these despaiches, yet a revolt
of the Sipshi army was never referred to as a means of accomplishing this.
During the Persian war there is reason to know that intrigues were carried
on between the Courts of Persia and Dehli; but it were hardly reasonable
to suppose that if the Shah had really intended to give the King of Dehli
any aid, or had even believed that a violent attempt would be made to
subvert the British power in India, he would have made peace with us just
at the critical time of our fortunes, thereby releasing, for the succour of
India, the troops which would otherwise be locked up in Persia. Again,
if the Shah had really been cognisant of such an attempt, would he not
have sent his emissaries to Peshawar and into the Panjdb? Had he done
this, some signs of intrigue would have certainly been perceptible, but
none whatever were discovered ; in fact, all that we have learnt regarding
the intrigues of the king and his party show that that he did not look to
any conspiracy or combination in India itself,  but rather to foreign aid
from beyond the frontier, from Persia or from Russia. Indeed, the notions
developed are generally so absurd as to show that these intrigues were
destitute of any reasonable plan, and were conceived by persons in a great
measure ignorant of the subject. :

.22. The Chief Commissioner’s opinions and conclusions on this im-
portant subject have now been stated without reserve. The -terrible
experience of Hindustan during 1857 must ever be applicable to all other
provinces of the empire; it should command attention in the Panjéb
especially. The Chief Commissioner has every reason to speak well of the
Panjdbi troops, and indeed it would be difficult to praise too highly their
services during the present war; they have resisted sore temptations, and
undergone severe trials, Nevertheless, there was a time when it seemed
doubtful what course they would ultimately adopt; and the Chief Com-
missioner fully believes that, had we failed to take Dehli last autumn,
even their fidelity would not have remained proof against the bad example
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.around them, At that juncture the Chief Commissioner himself could not.
‘avoid apprehending the day when, besides the British soldiers, there yvould
he no man on our side. That such a day did not arrive is due only, in the
Chief Commissioner’s eyes, to the infinite mercy of the Almighty. The
misfortunes and calamities which we experienced in Afghanistan in 1842
‘were renewed and surpassed in Hindustan during 1857. The issue has
been less disastrous, because in the last instance the country ‘was less
strong, the people less formidable, and our resources less distant; but,
above all, because the Almighty Disposer of Events, though apparently
determined to humble, had not resolved to destroy us. Many thoughtful
and experienced men now in India believe that we have been extricated:
from destruction only by a seried of miracles. It is no exaggeration to
affirm, that in many ipstances the mutineers acted as if a curse rested on
their cause.  Had a single leader of ability risen amongst them, nay, had
they followed any other course but the infatuated course which they
actually did pursue in many instanees, we must have been lost beyond
redemption ; but such a destruction was not decreed; it was a struggle
between Christianity and civilisation on the one side and barbarism and
heathenism on the other. That we escaped from destruction, and even
obtained success, can be accounted for in no other way than by attributing
it all to the operation of the Divine Will. And now, having been preserved
by Providence thus far victorious, it urgently behoves us to strive fo gain
a right understanding of the real circumstances which brought on this
crisis, If we can but acquire this, then there is hope that we may profit
by a knowledge of the past,and in future avoid those errors which bhad
well-nigh led to our ruin, = = ° .

23. In conclusion, I am to submit the Chief Commissioner’s recom-
mendation in regard to the future disposal of the prisoner Muhammad
Bah4dar Shah, ex-King of Dehli. The Chief Commissioner suggests, then,
that the said prisoner be transported beyond the seas as a felon, and be
kept in some island or settlement, where he will be entirely isolated from
all other Mubammadans. As regards the prisoner’s wife, Zinat-Mahal,
and his son, Jaw&n Bakht, no charges having been exhibited against them,
and the latter being only 17 years of age, but they both baving been
present at Dehli, the Chief Commissioner suggests that they be allowed the
option of accompanying the prisoner to his place of transportation; and
that, in the event of their declining to do so, they be confined as State
prisoners somewhere in the Lower Provinces of the Bengal Presiden€y.

24. While forwarding these proceedings, I am to state that the Chief
Commissioner commends to the favourable consideration of the Supreme .
Government the able exertions of Major J. F. Harriott, of 3rd Light
Cavalry, the Deputy Judge Advocate General, in conducting this pro-
tracted trial. The Chief Commissioner also desires to bring to notice the
vall_mble services of Mr. James Murphy, Collector of Customs, who acted °
a8 interpreter to the Court. This gentleman, unaided by any munshi,
translated all the numerous and difficult documents adduced at the trial ;
he also read the originals before the Court, and conducted the examination
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of the native witnesses. The translahons are believed to be exceedingly+
faithful; and the circumstance that he was able to dispense with native
a.ssxshmoe in the work ensured secrecy and other advantages, and evinced
his eminent attainments as an Urdu and Persian scholar. The Chief
Commissioner, I am to add, contemplates shortly proposmo some reward in

behalf of this meritorions oﬂioer.

’ I have, &c.
-(signed) R. TemrLE,
°
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